Public Document Pack

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee

-

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMISSION

Date & Time

-

Thursday, 28th October, 2021 at 10.00 am

Venue

-

The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia
Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham, NR19 1EE

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two
working days before the meeting. If the information requested is available, this
will be provided, and reported to Committee.
THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE ACTIVATED AT
THE START OF THE MEETING
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings
Members of the OSC
Cllr Rhodri Oliver (Chairman)
Cllr Lynda Turner (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr Timothy Birt
Cllr Hilary Bushell
Cllr Vera Dale
Cllr Fabian Eagle
Cllr Terry Jermy
Substitute Members
Cllr S Askew
Cllr H Clarke
Cllr P Wilkinson

Cllr Mark Kiddle-Morris
Cllr Robert Kybird
Cllr Ian Martin
Cllr Mike Nairn
Cllr David Wickerson

Cllr R Atterwill
Cllr P Morton

Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Tuesday, 19 October 2021

Please ask for Democratic Services DDI (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
28 October 2021

PROTOCOL
Working Style of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission (OSC) and Other
Scrutiny Bodies
This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted
by the OSC and other scrutiny bodies such as Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups.
Member Leadership
Members of the OSC will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and will recognise
that best practice identifies scrutiny as a non-executive Member-led activity. The OSC will expect
Cabinet members to take prime responsibility for answering their questions about topics which chiefly
relate to the Council’s activities.
A Constructive Atmosphere
Meetings of the OSC will be constructive and not judgmental. The Commission recognises and
accepts that effective scrutiny is best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People
giving evidence should be given due respect and not made to feel under attack.
Independence
Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party
groups.
Respect and Trust
Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust.
Consensus
Members of the OSC/task and finish groups will work together and, while recognising political
allegiances, will attempt to achieve consensus and agreed targeted recommendations. There will be
recognition that the OSC has a primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of the community.
Openness and Transparency
The OSC’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for
protecting confidentiality. The minutes of the Commission’s meetings will explain the discussion and
debate so that they can be understood by an outside reader.
Impartial and Independent Officer Advice
Officers who advise and support scrutiny will give impartial and independent advice, as officers
support all members of the Council.
Regular Review
There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it
is not working effectively.
Programming and Planning
It is the responsibility of the OSC and the wider non-executive to determine its work programme and
to allocate specific reviews either through a dedicated task and finish group or to undertake a review
itself. Before each topic/review is commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what
information they will need initially, and which members, officers and external witnesses they wish to
see.

Managing Time
The OSC will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of business
will be arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses.
Member/Officer Roles
Executive members will regularly be called to account for the decisions they have made and to
explain progress in key areas of their portfolio – and in the case of the Council Leader – the Council
as a whole. Members will be expected to produce and present a brief written account of their
executive activities and will then be questioned by members of the OSC for a period no longer than 20
minutes.
Co-optees
“Expert witnesses” may be co-opted onto scrutiny task and finish groups to provide technical
assistance to the review. Co-optees possess no voting rights.
Substitutes
Substitute members will be so listed on the agenda papers of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. It
is a member responsibility to alert a substitute in the event that she/he cannot attend a meeting.

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
28 October 2021
PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC
Page(s)
herewith
1.

MINUTES

6 - 13

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2021.
2.

APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES
To receive apologies for absence and to note substitute Members in
attendance.

3.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)

4.

URGENT BUSINESS
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent
business pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act
1972.

5.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the
Localism Act 2011. Members are also required to withdraw from the
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6.

NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
To note the names of any non-members or public speakers wishing to
address the meeting.

7.

INSPIRING COMMUNITIES UPDATE
To receive a presentation from Stephen James, Assistant Director,
Housing & Communities and Samantha Armitage, Community Services
Manager.

8.

CHAIRMAN'S PANEL

14 - 18

To receive a report from Simon Wood, Director of Planning & Building
Control.
9.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR PROPOSAL

19 - 28

To receive a report from Mark Robinson, Executive Member for Customer,
Digital & Performance and Ryan Pack, Innovation & Change Business
Partner.
10.

Q2 21/22 PERFORMANCE REPORT
To receive a report from Mark Robinson, Executive Member for Customer,
Digital & Performance and Ryan Pack, Innovation & Change Business
Partner.

29 - 40

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
28 October 2021
Page(s)
herewith

11.

OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM)
To receive an update from representatives on Outside Bodies.

12.

SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM)
To consider the following decision called-in for scrutiny.

a)

Call In: Local Plan Review

41 - 107

To receive a report from Paul Claussen, Executive Member for
Economic Development & Growth and Andrew Holdsworth,
Assistant Director, Economy & Growth.
The reports that were discussed at Cabinet on 20 September and
the Decision Notice are also attached.
13.

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM)
To consider any references.

14.

WORK PROGRAMME
(a)

A copy of the Commission’s work programme is attached. The
Commission is asked to agree any additions, deletions or
amendments to the programme as appropriate.

(b)

Member Issues: In accordance with the Commission’s protocol for
member leadership, which states that members of the Commission
will take the lead in selecting topics for overview and scrutiny and
in the questioning of witnesses, members are invited to put forward
items for selection for future review.

A copy of the Key Decision Plan is attached for Members’ information.
15.

NEXT MEETING
To note the arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 16
December 2021 at 10am in the Anglia Room, Breckland Conference
Centre, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham.

108 - 112

Agenda Item 1
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION
Held on Thursday, 9 September 2021 at 10.00 am in the
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham, NR19 1EE

PRESENT
Cllr Rhodri Oliver (Chairman)
Cllr Lynda Turner (ViceChairman)
Cllr Timothy Birt
Cllr Hilary Bushell
Cllr Vera Dale

Cllr Terry Jermy
Cllr Robert Kybird
Cllr David Wickerson
Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Cllr Roger Atterwill
Cllr Gordon Bambridge

Cllr Philip Morton
Cllr Sarah Suggitt

In Attendance
Rob Walker

-

Ronnie Coutts

-

Emma Windle
Peter Aylward
Jason Cole

-

Riana Rudland
Rosie Hill
Adele Newsome
Simon Wood
Teresa Smith
Ruth Tudge

-

Executive Director Place & Delivery and
Monitoring Officer
Managing Director, Serco’s Environmental
Services Business
Serco Contract Manager
Serco Senior Management Team
Assistant Director Customer and
Performance
Assistant Director Contracts & Operations
Digital Project Manager
Customer Experience Manager
Director of Planning & Building Control
Democratic Services Team Leader
Democratic Services Officer

Action By
69/21 MINUTES
The minutes and restricted minute from the meeting held on 22 July
2021 were confirmed as a correct record.
70/21 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES
Apologies had been received from Councillors Eagle, Kiddle-Morris,
Martin and Nairn.
71/21 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)
None.
72/21 URGENT BUSINESS
1

6

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By

None.
73/21 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.
74/21 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
None.
75/21 SERCO CONTRACT
The Managing Director for Serco’s Environmental Services Business,
Ronnie Coutts, introduced his colleagues from Serco, Emma Windle,
the Senior Contract Manager and Peter Aylward, part of the Senior
Management Team and gave a short presentation.
Ronnie Coutts explained that all areas across the UK were now
producing far more waste than ever before. This meant that crews were
working longer hours, the trucks were filled up quicker which meant
more trips to the transfer station sites, which might mean Serco ran out
of driver hours which reduced the flexibility across the teams. He went
on to explain the success behind the growth in subscribers for the
garden waste service and that there had been an increase in
subscribers of 15% on the previous year.
Emma Windle explained the issues Serco had suffered over the last
year with reduced staffing levels due to Covid and driver shortages,
vehicle delays and supply chain issues, the move to the new purposebuilt depot in Watton and the introduction of the new customer care
centre along with some weaknesses in the historic management team.
Emma stated that in response to the issues Serco had worked on
ensuring that the vehicles had now been delivered and included the
addition of some electric vehicles. Staffing levels had improved due to
initiatives and better training and that Serco had changed the
management team and were now focused on service delivery and
leadership of the team.
Emma further explained that some drivers had left due to a number of
factors. The national shortage of drivers had forced the rate of pay
nationally to an increase of 50% in some areas. In addition, drivers were
being offered bonuses in the region of £500 to £5,000 to both start and
stay with employers which resulted in limited availability of staff from
agencies. To address these issues and retain staff Serco had put
together a market allowance for drivers, an attendance allowance for all
staff, a retention bonus for loaders as a one-off payment and offered
LGV training free of charge to those who wanted to train, plus an annual
pay increase of 1.75%.
Councillor Wickerson asked if the waiting list for the provision of new
bins had changed as this had been a 12-week period. The Assistant
Director Contracts and Operations, Riana Rudland, explained this had
been reduced and was currently around an 8-week delay. Emma
Windle explained that Serco had now received stock of the brown
garden waste bins and were aiming to deliver as quick as possible and

7

2

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By

had secured an additional vehicle and driver so now 2 vehicles were out
delivering bins daily with over one thousand to be delivered which was
hoped to be achieved within the next five to six weeks.
Councillor Birt queried the assisted bin collections and the failure to
meet the obligation to return the bins to the properties. Emma Windle
explained Serco had now incorporated the importance of this into the
induction and continuation training to ensure staff were aware how
important it was to return bins to the point of pick up, not only for the
assisted bin collection, but all collections. Ronnie Coutts also said it was
important that the assisted bin collection records were kept up to date
and were working on how to improve to ensure this was captured when
people moved properties.
Councillor Jermy said it was important to acknowledge that the service
had been poor this year and that Serco had been slow to act when
there had been issues. He said that there had been particular issues
with the shredding of litter and dead animals where Serco had not litter
picked prior to grass cutting. Further issues had been caused with full
litter bins not being emptied regularly.
Ronnie Coutts agreed that there had been issues which Serco had now
addressed such as the change to the Management team and finding
extra resources, but that it would take time to embed with the new
contract and that Management were monitoring to ensure the service
was improved and stabilised. Emma Windle explained that previously
there had been no synergy between the streets team who did the litter
pick service and the grounds team who did the grass cutting. Serco
would now ensure that the litter picking would be done directly ahead of
the grass cutting.
The Chairman asked about the penalty system and if Serco thought it
would be effective or prejudice the relationship with the council. He also
asked how Serco felt they could meet the grass cutting targets. He
further asked if it would be possible for systems to link better to let
customers know when an issue had been dealt with for example if a
resident reported an issue on-line, could they get real time feedback to
their email address with an update, or a notification if this had already
been reported.
Ronnie Coutts responded to say that he felt that the penalty system was
a good regime and working well with both parties, with Serco
recognising the need to solve current issues and work to improve the
service long term. He also felt that the contract worked well because
both parties understood the current climate, communicated well and
regularly and recognised the effects on local residents and what was
important to residents in different areas.
He further explained that the reporting system, now through
Whitespace, worked very well and on-line forms went direct to the
contractor for the area concerned and this was dealt with very quickly
however he agreed that there were improvements that could be made
on reporting information back to residents. The Assistant Director
Contracts and Operations would investigate this with the WebTeam.
Councillor Wilkinson asked Serco if the fleet was up to capacity and the
3

8

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By

target for employing drivers. Emma Windle responded to say that there
were insufficient drivers at this current time and that they had
traditionally relied on agency staff. As a way forward Serco planned to
build up a pool of trained drivers in house to rotate to cover holidays
and sickness which would give better continuity and service to
residents.
Councillor Atterwill asked about housing growth across the district and
how would the Serco contract incorporate this growth and what
education could be given to residents to reduce waste wherever
possible. The Assistant Director Contracts and Operations explained
that the contract had a mechanism in place in that at tender it set the
current and forecasted growth level of household waste and that this
was rebased each year. Regarding education local authorities had
signed up to the Norfolk Waste Partnership which focussed on
education campaigns to promote recycling across Norfolk.
Councillor Jermy suggested a visit to the new Watton depot would
benefit Members, Councillor Suggitt said that she would organise with
The Assistant Director Contract and Operations and Democratic
Services and let Members know.
Members of the Commission noted the presentation.
76/21 PRESENTATION ON ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE (AI)
The Executive Member for Waste and Environment, Councillor
Bambridge introduced the report on Artificial intelligence (AI) and
explained how the chatbot would provide an alternative means of
communication for residents 24/7.
The Digital Project Manager, Rosie Hill gave a video presentation of
how chatbot would work and demonstrated how to select service areas
which would help chatbot narrow down the Frequently Asked Questions
and increase accuracy and confidence in the responses. There would
also be the ability to give feedback and the option to talk to a live
assistant within office hours.
The Digital Project Manager explained the building process behind the
content of the questions and the dashboard and showed the data that
could be collected in order to monitor the performance of the Chatbot
and ensure that it was responsive to achieve the goals and outcomes
necessary to help residents.
The Customer Experience Manager explained the different phases of
the introduction of chatbot to Breckland Council:





Phase 1 (Oct 2022) – Deploy the online chatbot and start to
gather customer use data
Phase 2 (TBC) – Integrate payments and online forms into the
chatbot
Phase 3 (July 2022) – Add the chatbot to Breckland Council’s
social media channels after successful introduction on the
Breckland Council website
Phase 4 (Apr 2022) – Deploy the telephony chatbot (on one
service area) and start to gather customer use data

9

4

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By




Phase 5 (TBC) – Deploy the Alexa/Google Home chatbot
Phase 6 (TBC) – Include the ability to book appointments on the
telephony chatbot

The Customer Experience Manager further explained that the
introductions of AI would improve efficiency, increase flexibility of
contact for residents to 24/7 and free up capacity for officers to provide
support for more vulnerable residents using other contact methods such
as face-to-face.
Councillors felt that this was a good step in the right direction digitally
but showed concerns for residents who were not yet ready or able to
take this step and wanted assurance that the choice for residents would
still be available.
The Customer Experience Manager confirmed that the choice would
remain available for residents, and that Breckland Council would always
be working to improve the telephony systems and availability and
believed that the addition of chatbot 24/7 would reduce other contact
and improve the availability of telephony contact during working hours.
It was agreed that it would be beneficial for this item come back to the
Scrutiny Commission in February or March 2022 as it approached
future phases in order that the Commission could look into the security
of data to ensure it was managed correctly and assist in anticipating any
possible future issues.
Members of the Commission noted the presentation.
77/21 SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS
The Director of Planning and Building Control, Simon Wood, introduced
the report and explained the key points of the planning obligations
surrounding 106 Agreements.
•
•

•
•
•
•

Legal obligations entered into to mitigate the impact of a
development proposal – it could not address existing issues,
only issues raised by the impact of a development
Planning Service manages the process of entering into a S106
Agreement and works with other service areas within the
Council to monitor, spend and ensure obligations were complied
with working with finance and affordable housing
Developers can apply to vary a S106 Agreement. May be down
to viability or because other circumstances, such as planning
policy, may have changed.
If planning obligations were breached, then it was open to the
Council to take formal action against developers – this would be
a last resort, it would be more advantageous to seek negotiation
Council publishes an Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement
giving details of infrastructure to be provided, the development it
relates to and any trigger points for contributions.
Planning for the Future White Paper – August 2020 proposes to
replace CIL and S106 with a nationally set, value based flat rate
charge to be known as the Infrastructure Levy.

Councillors asked about trigger points to highlight when obligations
5

10

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By

were due. The Director of Planning and Building Control said that
historically this had not been done but that, after moving documentation
to digital access, the Planning Service was now in a better position to
monitor contracts and contact developers to advise of trigger points to
ensure agreements were complied with.
Councillor Atterwill said that although the monitoring and
implementation of Section 106 Agreements had improved, it still needed
improvement and had concerns that Breckland Council did not actively
monitor this. He also asked if more information could be provided to
Members to make them aware of Section 278 and Section 38 legal
agreements which might affect their communities. This would normally
be dealt with by Norfolk County Council however if a Parish or Town
took on lighting responsibilities then this would be useful as further
funding could be made available by developers to contribute towards
the Town or Parish.
The Director of Planning and Building Control agreed it might be useful
to provide information on the Section 278 and Section 38 Agreements
to help Members understand the technical aspects and clarify what
each authority was responsible for.
Councillor Birt asked if there were ways of improving the engagement
between Breckland Council and Town and Parish Councils to enable
them to apply for monies within the timescale or have input on the
agreement being made.
The Director of Planning and Building Control said it was important that
if a Parish or Town Council required infrastructure within their
settlement to support development, and could demonstrate the needs
and costings, then the Planning Service would be happy to engage
when this information was provided.
Members also felt the was onus was on the Town and Parish Councils
to take responsibility and get more involved with the process from the
beginning.
Members of the Commission noted the report.
78/21 PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK
The Executive Member for Waste and Environment, Councillor
Bambridge, explained that as a result of the end of the Strategic
Partnership with South Holland District Council earlier this year, the
decision had been taken to review and reposition Breckland Council’s
performance framework This framework was intended to help shape the
Council’s approach to performance and how it would measure
performance moving forward. The framework demonstrated what
criteria the Council applied to different types of information such as
statistics and KPIs to ensure that all stakeholders had an understanding
of how the Council would carry out performance management at
different levels.
The Assistant Director Customer and Performance, Jason Cole
explained that the document was in draft format and welcomed
comments and feedback and said that he would put together a

11 6

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By

summary which may help Members. He also said he would ensure that
the document would be made available and easily accessible for all to
comment before it went live.
Councillor Birt said that on page 36, the Balanced Scorecard, he felt
that there had been academic criticism of this particular framework,
which was more finance led and questioned why this method had been
used; he felt it would be useful to see a comparison as a more resultsbased system might be more beneficial for local authority performance
measurement. Councillor Birt went on to say that the strategic carbon
reduction requirements had not been used which should maybe be a
scorecard in its own right.
The Assistant Director Customer and Performance explained that
Breckland Council had worked with the LGA using best practice
documents and used internal and external audit to come up with a
suitable framework for this organisation and was confident that this was
suitable but was happy to take on any comments.
Councillor Jermy said he would be interested to see that if an area
dropped in performance very quickly, that the Council could be more
reactive to what was happening rather than wait for a quarterly report.
The Assistant Director Customer and Performance explained that
monitoring trends could influence and inform, and that Breckland
Council had done a great deal of work about what the Council believed
high performance should look like, including behaviours of individuals
and how officers could drive a high-performance culture. He explained
that Breckland Council reviewed statistics and data constantly and had
weekly meetings to report on performance which would highlight any
issues early.
The Chairman stated that this document was an ongoing process that
could change with time and trends.
Members of the Commission recommended the adoption of the draft
performance framework.
79/21 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM)
None.
80/21 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM)
None.
81/21 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM)
None.
82/21 WORK PROGRAMME
Members agreed it would be useful to monitor the introduction of
Artificial Intelligence, and that Spring 2022 would be an appropriate time
after the chatbot function had been in place from the end of October
2021.
7

12

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
9 September 2021
Action By

Members agreed that it would be timely to invite Serco back to monitor
the progress of the contract and changes introduced by Serco, date to
be decided.
Councillor Atterwill asked if there might be merit in having a task and
finish group during the first year of the Serco. The Chairman agreed this
might be a valuable exercise and requested that Members email him
direct, before the next meeting, if they wished to be a part of this group.
Councillor Wickerson asked if it would be appropriate to have an update
on climate change at the October meeting, at the same time as the
update on Electrical Charging Points as the two subjects fit well
together. It was agreed this item be included in the October agenda.
83/21 NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting scheduled for Thursday 28
October at 10.00am were noted.

The meeting closed at 12.52 pm

CHAIRMAN

13 8

Agenda Item 8

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Rob Walker – Executive Director Place and Delivery

To:

Overview and Scrutiny Commission

Author:

Simon Wood – Director of Planning and Building Control

Subject:

Chairman’s Panel

Purpose:

To advise Members of the role of Chairman’s Panel and the process for
Planning Applications.

Recommendation(s):
1)

That Members note the contents of the report.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In 2018 the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) undertook a Peer Review of the Planning
Committee at Breckland

1.2

One of its recommendations was that the Local Planning Authority:
“could also consider regularly reviewing delegation and call-in procedures to find “a
balance between officer delegation; major applications and the opportunity for non major, but controversial applications to come to Committee”. This could also include
looking at the powers of the Chairman in this regard.”
It also recommended that the Council looked at reducing the number of items on the
Committee Agenda.

1.3

Following consideration of the recommendation, the Chairman’s Panel was introduced.
The first meeting was on 14 August 2019.

1.4

The scheme of delegation sets out the function of the Panel and the process by which
applications are referred to it.

1.5

There are no recorded figures for applications going to Panel before April 2020. Since
then the process has been refined and the following figures show that from then until
September 2021:
 There have been 129 applications at Chairman’s Panel
 Of those applications 41 have been sent to Planning Committee and 88 determined
under the delegation procedure.
 44 of the applications considered by Panel have been call ins.

1.6

The reasons behind the formation of the Chairman’s Panel were:


To provide a transparent and clear system whereby applications could be taken to
Planning Committee through the Member call-in process or the Executive Director of

14



1.7

Place and Delivery, in discussion with the Chairman of Planning, to exercise the
ability to call applications that raise significant issues to Committee, and
To reduce the number of items on planning committee to enable shorter more
focussed meetings determining the most significant applications.

When looking at the number of planning applications going to Committee there has been a
demonstrable reduction since the introduction of the process in August 2019.

Year

2018
(13 meetings)

2019
(13 meetings)

2020
(10 meetings)

2021
(up
to
October – 9
meetings)

Total number of 212
items

207

70

50

Average
number of items

15

7

5.5

16

1.8

It is clear that the process has significantly reduced the average number of applications on
a committee agenda and enables the Planning Committee to focus on key strategic
applications as well as applications that have raised significant policy issues or matters of
local interest.

1.9

It is also considered that it has enabled the call-in process to become more transparent
and robust.

1.10

Prior to the introduction of the Chairman’s Panel the decision to take call-in applications to
Planning Committee sat solely with the Chairman of Planning Committee in consultation
with officers.

1.11

The process now is that a call-in request must be received within 23 days from the
publishing of an application on the weekly list, which all councillors receive, and made on
the prescribed form. All call-in requests go to Chairman’s Panel and the Panel makes a
recommendation (based on the significance of issues for each case) as to the process by
which the application will be determined. There is no proposal to change that process.

1.12

It needs to be noted that the Panel is not a decision-making body. It is not there to discuss
the merits of an individual application but purely to recommend the route it takes to
determination based on its significance. The decision to either take an application to
Committee or allow it to be determined by the delegated process is made by the Director
of Place and Delivery (or his delegated representative) having regard to the views of the
Panel. Of the 129 items considered by the Panel since April 2020 there have only been 7
instances where the officer making the decision took a different view to the Panel. Of
these 5 went to Committee and 2 were delegated.

1.13

Members who call an application to Panel can attend Panel and speak in support of their
call-in request. Other members are also able to view the meeting. This was not something
that was possible previously. Where an application is taken to Panel for other reasons
than it being called in i.e. it is considered significant or raises contentious issues, then it is
possible for members to either submit comments to be reported at the relevant Panel

15

meeting or attend and speak in relation to any application in their own or an adjoining
ward.
1.14

Members will appreciate that during the current pandemic the Chairman’s Panel moved
online. This made it easier for Members to observe the meeting and get involved where it
is appropriate to do so. As we move out of lockdown it is considered that at present the
Panel will remain online given the ability to involve members more easily with an online
process. That will be kept under review.

1.15

Reports on the agenda are full reports with a recommendation. It is considered that whilst
the merits of the application are not discussed at Panel meetings and have no bearing on
the recommendation of Panel, it is important for them to have as much information as
possible to inform that recommendation.

1.16

There have been requests for a Flow Chart, showing the average application process, to
be provided. The Flow Chart is attached at Appendix A to this report.

1.17

It is considered that the Panel process is transparent with Members being able to view the
process. Meetings are recorded so that there is a record of the discussions.

1.18

The call-in process is working successfully with the on-line form being easy to complete.
Officers are available to discuss call-in requests with Members if they wish to do so and
vice versa.

1.19

It is considered that the Chairman’s Panel has been a successful response to the issues
set out within the PAS review. It has provided a more democratic process around call-ins
giving Members the ability to make their case directly to the Panel and it has also reduced
the number of items going to Planning Committee. This enables Committee to focus on
significant and contentious applications without the pressure of a large agenda.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

That Members note the report.

3.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings,
these are identified below.

4.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

4.1

All

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Simon Wood – Director of Planning and Building Control
07775036582
simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

16

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Planning Application Process Flow Chart

17

Day 1
When application is valid not received (could be before or after day 1)

Week 1

Validation
[Support Team]

Allocation
[Senior Officer]

Weeks 24

Consult Start x 21 days:
- Newspaper
- Site Notice
- Neighbour Letters
- Weekly List
[Planning Officer]

Week 5

Review Application
[Planning Officer]

Request Additional
Information

Re-Consult?
7/10/14 days
No

Weeks 67

Week 8

Review
Recommendation

Write Report

(Agree EOT if
decision extends
past 8 weeks)

DECISION

18

Panel/
Planning
Committee

Agenda Item 9

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Mark Robinson- Executive Member for Customer, Digital and
Performance

To:

Overview and Scrutiny Commission- 28th October 2021

Author:

Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner

Subject:

Key Performance Indicators revision for 2021/22 performance cycle

Purpose:

To provide members of the commission with proposed changes to the
upcoming 2021/22 performance cycle.

Recommendation(s):
1)

1.0
1.1

Members of the commission are to recommend the proposed indicators for adoption by
cabinet.

BACKGROUND
Key performance indicators (KPI’s) are indicators that highlight the health, standard of

service and direction of the council, whether progress is being made towards
strategic goals and if statutory regulations are being met.
1.2

A KPI differs from a regular performance indicator due to it being labelled as key. In some
cases, this may mean it is the amalgamation of two performance indicators or the result of
multiple deliverables. They reflect only the most important goals across the organisation,
so they will only be a small proportion of all the indicators measured.

1.3

The council currently reports a combination of 31 KPI’s and PI’s to form the quarterly
performance report. These make up a fraction of the overall number of indicators and
statistics collected by the council including statutory returns, which the council must make
to central government.

1.4

It is also important to differentiate a KPI with a statistic, which is data and information that
the council cannot directly control. This is an important difference to make as using
statistics in place of KPI’s means that a true understanding of how the council is
performing would not be reported.

1.5

Focusing on the wrong metrics or too many metrics can be detrimental to understanding
the council’s performance. A good set of performance metrics should be a balance
between a comprehensive picture of the organisation whilst also being concise.

1.6

KPI’s are informally discussed through various internal officer led mechanisms within the
council such as performance board, Central Management Team meetings (CMT) and
through ad-hoc meetings where performance is deemed to be falling.

1.7

Formally performance reporting can best be seen through the quarterly performance
reports which are seen by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. This committee has a
constitutional role in scrutinising the council’s performance management.

19

1.8

The officers conducted a review of its current suite of indicators earlier this year and have
created a revised suite to be reported on moving forward. This review has been
conducted in conjunction with this committee and the council’s CMT.

1.9

These indicators focus more on controllable and reportable metrics than statistics
compared to previous suites of indicators

1.10

These KPI’s have been designed against the council’s corporate plan, which sets out its
strategic objectives and goals for the upcoming period. These two elements must be
interlinked as setting KPI’s which do not match with these objectives can create confusion
as to if the council is performing against what it sets out to achieve.

1.11

The data availability period of reporting should also be considered when setting new
KPI’s. As the council reports its performance quarterly, it should avoid using data that is
only reported/compiled annually, as this would result in the same number being submitted
four times a year.

1.12

Staff time should also be taken into consideration when setting new indicators. Indicators
that take a large amount of staff time to compile due to complexity or current systems
should not be considered viable in the short term. Work should however be done to see if
they can be reported on in the future.

1.13

Where possible officers will include a narrative with references other to data sets within
the KPI for example those dealing with FOI’s and complaints will reference average times
in their narratives and those related days where customer contact exceed their
abandonment rate limit will reference the overall abandonment rate for the quarter.

1.14

Officers are also seeking to bring a report related to project reporting to this committee
from January 2022. This will allow for oversight of various ongoing projects the council is
working on. This should be taken into consideration when looking at the proposed
indicators.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To recommend the adoption of the revised indicator suite to cabinet.

2.2

Do nothing

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The revised suite of indicators allows for performance reporting in line with the new
corporate plan in terms of organisational goals and aims.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

Greater coverage of council activities through the expansion of the councils KPI suite.

5.1

IMPLICATIONS

5.1.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

20

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the
author that there are no implications.
5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.1

Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the author
that there are no implications.

5.2.2 Contracts
5.2.1

Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that there
are no implications.

5.3

Corporate Priorities

5.3.1

The report presents progress monitoring of key performance indicators from the corporate
priorities.

5.4

Financial

5.4.1

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to financial matters.

5.5

Reputation

5.5.1

Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of
this report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

5.6

Risk Management

5.6.1

Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect
Council interests.

5.7

Staffing

5.7.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to staffing.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

No Wards or Communities are affected.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

KPI: Key Performance Indicator

7.2

PI: Performance Indicator

Background papers:-

21

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner
ryan.pack@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Breckland Council Key Performance Indicators and Performance
Indicators for Overview and Scrutiny Committee

22

Breckland proposed Key Performance Indicators (KPI)- 2021-22

23

Title
Development Enabled

Service
Economy &
Growth

Investment Secured

Economy &
Growth

Housing Enabled

Economy &
Growth

Investment Delivered

Economy &
Growth

Jobs Supported

Economy &
Growth

Commercial Property Average
Yield

Commercial
Property / NonOperational
Assets

Health & Safety Property
Compliance

Property

Description
The aggregated figure for all new
development enabled, calculated at
point intervention delivered
The aggregated figure for all new housing
enabled through direct support from
service, counted at point intervention
delivered
Snapshot of all investment (grants,
funding, private sector contributions) to
pipeline and E&G activity over the period
Snapshot of spend on all projects and
programmes over the period being
delivered within E&G (as a %)
Total jobs created and/or safeguarded
through support from the service.
Includes activity from all service areas.
This is the average yield across the
commercial property (investment, nonoperational) assets. Yield (or return on
investment) is a performance measure of
how well capital (cash) is employed to
allow comparison to benchmark or the
market
Certification/testing of property
elements to ensure safety and
compliance with the H&S at Work Act.
The number of compliance checks that

Targeted measure
Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

24

# of days CC performance drops
below 90 %
Average Wait Time in Seconds

Customer Contact

% of automated customer web
chats

Customer Contact

Customer service satisfaction

Customer Contact

# of LGO/ICO appeals defended

Customer Contact

% of FOI requests responded to
within the time limit

Customer Contact

Complaints % upheld/partially
upheld
% of SAR requests responded to
within the time limit

Customer Contact

% of Complaint requests
responded to within the time
limit
Satisfaction with council website

Customer Contact

Silktide- Overall external score

Digital

Customer Contact

Customer Contact

Digital

have failed. Lower the outturn the
better
# of days where CC performance exceeds
its abandonment rate of 10%
Average Time to Answer Phone calls in
Seconds
% of chatbot interactions based on the
overall number of customer webchat
interactions
Level of satisfaction with Customer
Services experience
# of appeals the council successfully
defends from the ICO or LGO
Of the FOI's responded to in the month,
the percentage of ones that were
responded to within the statutory 20-day
timescale
% of complaints upheld or partially
upheld at all stages
Of the SAR responded to in the month,
the percentage of ones that were
responded to within the statutory
timescale
Of the Complaints responded to in the
month, the percentage of ones that were
responded to within the timescale
% of residents who are satisfied with the
council’s website
Things the website MUST do. Supported
by accessibility statement to remediate
any gaps. This covers all 1700 plus pages

Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes
No
Yes

Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes

25

Silktide- Overall internal score

Digital

IT systems availability/ website
downtime %
Amount of funding allocated

ICT/Digital

# of enforcement actions taken

Climate

Amount of carbon saved by staff
and members choosing active
travel options
Emissions reduced from trees
planted (estimate)

Climate

# of additional electric vehicle
charging units delivered
Facebook engagement

Climate

Twitter engagement

Comms

% of reports received after the
agenda has been published and
sent out late
% Staff completing corporate
induction/safeguarding
% Staff who feel well supported
by the Council
% Members satisfied with training
# and % of claims for
compensation against the

Dem Services

Climate

Climate

Comms

HR
HR
HR
Legal

Things the website MUST do. Supported
by accessibility statement to remediate
any gaps. This relates to the indexes 150
% of time key ICT systems were down for
unscheduled reasons
Amount of funding that has been
allocated via the community green grants
Instances where enforcement actions
taken by the council e.g. FPN
Amount of carbon saved by staff and
members choosing active travel options

Yes

Amount of emissions reduced as a result
of council-led or council linked tree
planting
# of additional electric vehicle charging
units installed within the district
Level of engagement through the
council’s Twitter pages
Level of engagement through the
council’s Facebook pages
% of committee agendas published after
the publication deadline

Yes

% Staff completing corporate
induction/safeguarding
From staff survey

Yes

From training exit survey
In relation to legal action taken against
the council

Yes
No

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes
No
No
Yes

Yes

Council, including # of successful
claims
# ICO decisions upheld

Legal

26

% of planned work completed
according to agreed timescales
Food Businesses Rated 'Generally
Satisfactory' or Above

Public Protection

% of successful bin collections

Contracts and
Operations
Contracts and
Operations
Contracts and
Operations
Contracts and
Operations
Contracts and
Operations
Contracts and
Operations
Contracts and
Operations

Fly-tipping investigations with a
successful outcome
Leisure centre customer
satisfaction
Leisure centre use
Procurement and contract
management savings
Trade waste customer conversion
rate
Waste, grounds maintenance and
street cleansing contract
performance deductions
% of Major applications
determined within 13 weeks or
agreed extension
% of Minor applications
determined within 8 weeks or
agreed extension

Public Protection

Planning

Planning

Decisions related to data breaches
upheld by the ICO
H&S- Monthly report of actions against
H&S intervention plan
The % of rateable food businesses with a
rating of 3 (generally satisfactory), 4
(good) or 5 (very good) as a % of the total
number of rateable businesses
% of successfully collected bins

No

# of fly-tips where investigation
produced a successful outcome (FPN etc)
Leisure centre users customer
satisfaction
Individual participants visiting the
Dereham and Thetford leisure centres
Procurement and contract management
savings
% of customers who receive a quote and
become a trade waste customer
Annual contract performance deductions
as a percentage of the annual contract
value
Major Planning Applications determined
in 13 weeks (or within extended timescale) over a rolling 2 year period*
% determined within 8 weeks (or with
agreed extension)

No

Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes
No
Yes

Yes

Yes

27

Directly supported survivors
(Daisy Programme)

Communities

Yes

Communities

Where Daisy are providing a direct
provision of domestic abuse services to a
resident
Number of individual people who have
been supported via a collaboration
referral
From Silver Social resident survey

# of people supported (Early
Intervention)

Communities

% Encouraged to try new things
(Silver Social)
% Feel part of the community
(Silver Social)
Total Attendance (Silver Social)

Communities

From Silver Social resident survey

Yes

Communities

The total number of people who attend
events that take place over the reporting
period, regardless of whether new or
repeat attendees
Resolved is defined by the patient
confirming they no longer need support
due to that given by the service
From any source
Users do not always leave the service, so
this stat shows the total number of
people using the Tripstart service
Number of people accessing the service

Yes

Number of resolved cases (Social
Prescription)

Communities

Applications received (Tripstart)
Total of service users (Tripstart)

Communities
Communities

Total referrals (Thetford Citizens
Advice)
Total trained under the scheme
(Mental Health Community
Partnership)
No reporting improved wellbeing
(Social Prescription)
% of approved DFG applications
completed within 140 days
% of Cases Prevented from
Homelessness

Communities
Communities

Total individuals trained through various
schemes

Yes

Communities

From case studies

Yes

Housing

To ensure your home is suitable for you

Yes

Housing

Number of cases prevented from
homelessness, as a result of casework
intervention, this quarter.

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes

Yes

% of Category 1 Hazard repairs
complied with
% of HMO inspections completed
within 8 weeks of application
% of HMO licenses
issued/declined within 4 weeks of
inspection
% of suspected HMO's
investigated within 4 weeks
Satisfaction with the works
carried out as part of a Disabled
Facilities Grant
The Overall service that you
received

Housing

To ensure you live in a safe house

Yes

Housing

To ensure you live in a safe house

Yes

Housing

To ensure you live in a safe house

Yes

Housing

To ensure you live in a safe house

Yes

Housing

Satisfaction with the works carried out as
part of a Disabled Facilities Grant

Yes

Housing

Satisfaction with service

Yes

28

Agenda Item 10

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Mark Robinson- Executive Member for Customer, Digital and
Performance

To:

Overview and Scrutiny Commission- 28th October 2021

Author:

Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner

Subject:

Performance Overview Report- Quarter 2 2021/22

Purpose:

To provide members of the commission with an overview of the council’s
performance for the period 1st July 2021- 30th September 2021.

Recommendation:
1)

Members of the commission are asked to note the report.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Quarter 2 2020-21 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide
Members, businesses, and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing
against several key strategic indicators. These indicators include the delivery of frontline
services, financial performance and progress made towards achieving the overarching
aims and objectives of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan.
In addition, the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance and
where performance is challenging.

2.0
2.1

3.0

Areas of success
During Q1, the council maintained strong performance in areas such as responses to
FOI’s and complaints, as well as commercial property occupancy and income. Whilst
there were dips in some of these areas, it should be noted that these were not substantial
dips.
Areas requiring improvement

3.1

The council continues to work on improving it’s current abandonment rate and wait times
in relation to customer contact. Whilst a detailed explanation has been given in both
appendixes B and C, it should be noted that improvements to these indicators will be
gradual and not overnight due to the nature of fixing these issues.

3.2

Members will also note the performance related to missed bins during this period. This
item has been dealt with previously by the committee and whilst the figure is still higher, it
is beginning to improve.

3.3

Members will also note the drop in major planning applications determined within their
timescale. Whilst an explanation has been given in Appendix B, it is important to note that
this indicator is set against an annual target which the service is currently on track to
exceed.

29

4.0

OPTIONS

4.1

To note the content of the report

4.2
5.0

Do nothing
EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will use the content of this report to
identify areas of improvement.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
6.1.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the
author that there are no implications.
6.2 Constitution & Legal
6.2.1 Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the author that
there are no implications.
6.3
Contracts
6.3.1 Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that there
are no implications.
6.4
6.4.1

Corporate Priorities
The report presents progress monitoring of key performance indicators from the corporate
priorities which highlight the areas of focus in the new BAU Covid era.

6.5
6.5.1

Financial
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to financial matters.

6.6
6.6.1

Health & Wellbeing
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to health and wellbeing.

6.7
6.7.1

Reputation
Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of this
report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

6.8
Risk Management
6.8.1 Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect
Council interests.
6.9
Staffing
6.9.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to staffing.
7.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

No Wards or Communities are affected.

30

8.0 ACRONYMS
8.1

KPI- Key performance indicator

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner
07766 510582
Ryan.Pack@Breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Quarter 2 21/22 performance report

31

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
Customer Engagement- Key performance indicators- 20/21

Calls abandoned (%)
Average wait time (in
seconds)

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better
Smaller
Smaller

Q2
20/21

Q1
21/22

Q2
21/22

Change
against Q2
20/21
9.81%
18.86% 23.91% +14.1%
59
430
446
+387
seconds seconds seconds seconds

Change
against Q1
21/22
+5.05%
+16
seconds

Customer Engagement- Business intelligence
N/A

19,026

21,006

21,869

+2,843

+863

Number of retweets

Bigger

N/A

684

655

N/A

-29

Total website visitors

N/A

121,239

92,960

85,346

-35,893

-7,344

Twitter followers

Bigger

N/A

4,971

5,060

N/A

+89

Facebook likes

Bigger

N/A

9,774

10,216

N/A

+442

32

Number of calls received

Target

Comments

10.1%
Customer contact continues to work through a period
of challenging performance in Q2. Whilst there was a
150
seconds period of positive performance in July, where it had an
abandonment rate of 7%, both August and September
saw the rate increase significantly to an average of
Data
23.91% for Q2.
only
Data
only
Data
only
Data
only
Data
only

During this period of increasing abandonment rate,
the team has seen a continued fall in the available FTE
for telephone services. This is illustrated in the
Appendix C graph. Part of this fall has been due to the
Customer Contact service review which prevented the
hiring of permanent staff whilst it was conducted.
During this period, the council utilised agency staff but
saw these numbers drop in August due to a lack of
applications. The council has subsequently advertised
for 7 roles (5 permanent and 2 temporary), for which
it received over 50 applications. Of the 7 roles
advertised during August, 6 of these have now been
filled with employees starting their roles throughout
September and October
An increase in available FTE will assist in driving down
the abandonment rate, although there will be a
bedding-in period where staff are trained on specific
areas of the council’s work such as council tax.

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
The council is continuing to look at the reporting of its
total website visitors after comments raised at a
previous session of this committee. For continuity, it
has included the Q2 data.

Information and feedback- Key performance indicators

33

% of FOI’s responded to
within time limit
% of complaints
responded to within
time limit

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better
Bigger

Q2
20/21

Q1
21/22

Q2
21/22

Change
against Q1
21/22
-2%

Target

Comments

96%

Change
against
Q2 20/21
-4%

100%

98%

100%

90%

-4%

-7%

96%

During Q2, the council received and completed
responses for 70 complaints and 111 requests under
the freedom of information request. Whilst there
was a fall in performance during this quarter, this is
attributed to the sickness of key members of staff
which meant that requests were not able to be sent
due to them missing crucial information.

Bigger

94%

97%

Furthermore, whilst FOI responses saw consistent
performance across this quarter. In September FOI’s
were open for an average of 8 days, with only 1
request being open for over 20 days.
Responses to complaints varied much more than
FOI’s. In July 100% of complaints were sent within
their agreed timescale but only 77% were sent during
September. This will therefore be monitored next
quarter to ensure that there are no trends and that
the issues seen in September were isolated.

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
Environment and Community- Key performance indicators

Number of missed waste
collections (Per 100,000
households)

Bigger is
Q2
better/Smaller 20/21
is better
Smaller
9

Q1
21/22

Q2
21/22

19

35

Change
against
Q2 20/21
+26

Change
against Q1
21/22
+16

Target

Comments

45

Q2 saw challenges for the council around waste
collections and whilst the agreed target was not
exceeded, it performed notably worse than
previous quarters. These issues have been
attributed to the national shortage of HGV drivers
which has led to disruption in terms of the ability of
the council to collected bins.

34
# of incidents of fly
tipping

Smaller

273

296

235

-38

-61

N/A

See
comments
See
comments

There has however been notable improvement
since July, where the council did exceed its monthly
target with 28 out of every 100,000 bins missed
against a monthly limit of 15. In the subsequent
months, this did improve to 4 (August) and 3
(September) missed bins per 100,000.
Q2 saw a drop in the number of fly-tipping
incidents compared to last quarter and the same
quarter the previous year. The council has recorded
531 instances of fly-tipping this financial year.

Environment and Community- Business intelligence
% of household waste
recycled
% of household waste
composted

Bigger

18.3%

20.03%

21.4%

+3.1%

+1.4%

Bigger

21.46%

17.07%

20.09%

-1.37%

+3.02%

Average number of
working days to

Smaller

3

1.4

21

+16.6%

+19.6

Data
only

Both PI’s have a collective annual target of 40.1%.
The council is currently performing just slightly
below this target with a combined score of 39.29%
for 21/22. This is broken down as 18.58%
(composted) and 20.71 % (recycled)
There have been several challenges facing the
council concerning waste collection in Q2. There

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
collected missed waste
(per 100,000
households)

has been a significant supply chain issue across the
industry and country in relation to waste collection
services. As a result, there has been an increase in
the waiting time for residents who request new
bins. This issue is out of the control of both the
council and contractor as it is part of a nationwide
shortage.

35

Furthermore, there have been some delays to
collection services as a result of driver shortages
and fuel issues meaning some bins we not collected
on their scheduled collection day. The figure for Q2,
therefore, incorporates a mixture of delayed bins
and replacement bins going over normal standards
time. As a result, the figure for Q2 is inflated as a
result of both the above factors and the knock-on
effect for the data the council collects. The council
continues to work with partner organisations to
mitigate and ease the impact on service delivery for
residents.

Number of garden waste
subscribers
Fly tipping (tonnes)

Bigger

23,662

24,556

24,586

+924

+30

Smaller

119

103.71

110.05

-8.95

+6.34

Residual waste per
household per
household (kg)
Breckland Lottery- Value
awarded
Breckland LotteryNumber of good causes

Smaller

46.7

48.9

43.5

-3.2

-5.46

Bigger

-

-

-

-

-

Bigger

-

-

-

-

-

Data
only
Data
only
Data
only
Data
only
Data only

Despite the drop in instances of fly-tipping this
quarter, there was a small rise in the tonnage.

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
Housing and homelessness- Key performance indicators

Cases prevented
from
homelessness

Q2 20/21

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

Change
against
Q1 21/22
-20

Target

Comments

15

Change
against
Q2 20/21
-29

44

35

N/A

0

0

0

100

Whilst Q2 has seen a drop in the number of
cases prevented from homelessness, the service
continues to work hard due to the high number
of applicants contacting the council for Housing
advice. These 15 cases relate to cases where the
applicant has been assessed as being owed a
duty by the council under the Homelessness
reduction act.
As per Q1, staffing in teams tasked with bringing
properties back into use has continued to be a
challenge, with many still reprioritised to other
areas of the Housing service. These are areas
where housing issues could have had a greater,
detrimental impact on tenants’ health and
wellbeing.

Bigger

0

0

36

Empty properties
brought back into
use

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better
N/A

Moving forward officers have been set a
caseload of properties to focus on in 21/22.

Housing and homelessness- Business intelligence
# of residents who
are homeless in
the district
Empty properties
within Breckland

Smaller

0.03%

0.02%

0.01%

-0.02%

-0.01%

Data
only

Smaller

609

441

384

-225

-57

Data
only

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
Employee workforce- Key performance indicators
Q2 20/21

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

Change
against
Q2 20/21

Change
against
Q1 21/22

Target

Comments

Staff turnover

See target

3.3%

7.6%

4.9%

+1.6%

-2.7%

4.3%

# of working days
lost to sickness per
FTE

Smaller

2

2.1

3.07

+1.7

+1.6

2.01

Staff turnover fell during Q2 and is now only
slightly over its target. During Q2, 15 members of
staff left the organisation through a combination
of resignations and redundancies. During the
same period, the council hired 21 members of
staff.
Working days lost to sickness rose by 1.7 days in
Q2 having previously been at target last quarter.
Whilst a rise of this level is disappointing, it is not
unexpected due to the rise of common colds and
other similar illnesses which were predicted as we
head into autumn and winter.

37

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better

Employee workforce- Business intelligence

# of days lost to
sickness

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better

Q2 20/21

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

Change
against
Q2 20/21

Change
against
Q1 21/22

Target

Smaller

552

547

844

292

297

750

Comments

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
Public Protection- Key performance indicators

Food businesses
rated ‘generally
satisfactory’ or
above

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better
Bigger

Q2 20/21

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

98%

99%

98%

Change
against
Q2 20/21
0%

Change
against
Q1 21/22
-1%

Target

95%

Of the 1,227 food businesses within the district,
1,206 have scored between 3-5.

Change
against
Q1 21/22
-1%

Target

Comments

98%

During this period, the commercial property
occupancy fell by 1%. This is broken down into 2
vacations and 1 letting completed during this
period.

+£754,195

£2,525,831.00
(Annual target)

The performance of the Councils Commercial
Property portfolio continues to be affected by the
pandemic. Whilst the government has made
available a strong financial package to support
tenants, a number of tenants have sought further
support from the Council as their landlord or been
forced to enter a CVA.

Economy and Growth- Key performance indicators

38

Commercial
property
occupation

Commercial
Property gross
rental income

Bigger is
better/Smaller
is better
Bigger

Q2 20/21

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

98%

97%

96%

Change
against
Q2 20/21
-2%

See target

£1,507,675

£925,367

£1,679,562

+£171,917

Appendix A

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report
Q2 21/22
Planning Provision- Key performance indicators

39

% of Major
applications
determined
within 13 weeks
or agreed
extension
% of Minor
applications
determined
within 8 weeks
or agreed
extension

Bigger is
Q2 20/21
better/Smaller is
better

Q1 21/22

Q2 21/22

Change
against
Q1 21/22

Target

Comments

59.83%

Change
against
Q2
20/21
-23.5%

Bigger

83.33%

94.44%

-34.61

70%

93.1%

+0.8%

+5.03%

80%

There has been a significant drop concerning
major planning applications determined within
13 weeks. Whilst there were positive months
during this quarter (87.5% determined in July),
there has been a gradual decrease in those
determined with August seeing 67% and
September seeing 25%. This drop has been
attributed to delays related to the submission of
additional information, further consultation, and
subsequent presentation to the planning
committee.

Bigger

92.33%

88.07%

Whilst this is concerning, it is important to
contextualise this against the annual target of
70%. For the current financial year, the council is
currently performing at 77% determined against
this target.

Appendix B- Call abandonment rate against available FTE for customer contact services

40

Agenda Item 12a

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Rob Walker, Executive Director and Monitoring Officer

To:

Overview & Scrutiny Commission – 28 October 2021

Author:

Rory Ringer, Democratic Services Manager

Subject:

Call-In of the Cabinet decision on the Local Plan Review

Purpose:

This report advises the Overview & Scrutiny Commission on the procedural
aspects of Calling In the decision.

Recommendation(s):
1)

To take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect immediately; or

2)

To refer the decision back to Cabinet for reconsideration, setting out the nature of the
Commissions concerns and/or proposed changes to the decision; or

3)

To refer the commission’s function to review or scrutinise the decision to full Council.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Call-in is a provision of the Local Government Act 2000 that enables councillors to ensure
that the principles of decision-making set out in the Council’s Constitution are adhered to. It
allows the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Commission to require the Council’s executive
to reconsider certain decisions prior to implementation.

1.2

Call-in is only intended to be used in exceptional circumstances when councillors believe
that a decision has been taken in a way that is contrary to the Council’s principles of
decision making and when representations to the decision-maker about these concerns
have not resolved the issue.

1.3

A request to call in the Cabinet decision of 20 September 2021 regarding the Local Plan
Review was made on 24 September 2021 by three members of the Council in accordance
with Breckland Council’s call-in procedures as set out in the Constitution.

1.4

The reason given for the call-in is that the members concerned believe that the decision
has been taken without any consultation with members and more importantly that of the
Local Plan Working Group; that the Executive Member should have consulted on the
proposals particularly in relation to the proposed timetable of the review.

2.0

BACKGROUND TO THE DECISION

2.1

The National Planning Policy Framework – July 2021- requires plans to be reviewed every
5 years. The attached report sets out the timetable for a single policy review of Policy INF03
to require submission of a full review of the Plan to the Planning Inspectorate by November

41

2026. It also sets out the timetable for the substantive review of the Local Plan to allow
that requirement to be met
3.0

REVIEWING THE DECISION

3.1

The process for reviewing the decision is as follows:

3.2

Initiator of call-in – The Councillor who has initiated the call-in will set out the purpose of
the call-in.
Cabinet Member/Officer – Will set out the reasons for making the decision.
Questions – The Commission will then have an opportunity to ask questions.
Conclusions – The Commission will then, having considered the matter, take a decision
on its response to the call-in.

4.0

OPTIONS

4.1

To take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect immediately, or

4.2

To recommend that the decision is reconsidered by Cabinet at its next scheduled meeting,
setting out the nature of the Commission’s concerns and/or proposed changes to the
decision. The Cabinet will then reconsider its decision taking into account the concerns
and/or proposals on the Overview and Scrutiny Commission; or

4.3

To refer the commission’s function to review or scrutinise the decision to full Council.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme;
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Constitution & Legal

5.1.1

The Local Government Act 2000 and Council’s Constitution contain provisions that enable
the Overview and Scrutiny Commission to review decisions made by the Cabinet or other
Executive decision makers. A call in notice has been received that is compliant with the
Council’s constitution.

5.2

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.2.1

Call in represents an opportunity for Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission to
consider and review the decision of the Cabinet.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

None

42

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Email:

Rory Ringer – Democratic Services Manager
rory.ringer@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

No
No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Cabinet Report 20 September 2021

43

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
DELEGATED DECISION RECORD

This records a key or other decision taken by an Executive Member or the Cabinet in
accordance with the Council’s scheme of Delegations (as set out in Section D of Part 3 of
the Council’s Constitution).
Unless the Leader and the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission certify that
the matter is so urgent that the normal five-day scrutiny delay on action should not apply,
then this decision will come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of five
working days after the publication of the decision, unless called in under the call-in
procedures as set out in Section D of Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution.
Portfolio/Cabinet

Cabinet

Report Title (& Reference No.)

Local Plan Review

Summary Background

To review the Local Plan

Author/Contact Officer

Andrew D'Arcy, Planning Policy Manager, Simon Wood,
Director of Planning & Building Control
(andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk,
simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk)

Ward(s) Affected

All

Urgent?

No

Key Decision?

No

In Key Decision Plan?

No

Date Decision Taken

Monday, 20 September 2021

Date Published

Tuesday, 21 September 2021

Call-In Expiry

Tuesday, 28 September 2021

Exempt Information?

No

Decision (Action Agreed)

RESOLVED that:
1)

a Single Policy Partial Review of Policy
INF 03 is prepared in parallel with a
Substantive Review of the whole Local
Plan as outlined in Section 4 of the report

2)

timetables for both the Single Policy Partial
and Substantive reviews are approved as

44

set out in the revised Local Development
Scheme
3)

further work is undertaken and continued
challenge and monitoring to agree the
ongoing financial resource required for the
preparation of the Single Policy Partial and
Substantive reviews of the Plan

4)

the Statement of Community Involvement
is approved for public consultation for a
period of 6 weeks.

Reasons(s)

The Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement.
Plans must be underpinned by an appropriate evidence
base, much of which is required at an early stage of the
preparation process to inform future decisions over
development strategies and allocations.

Options

Options are outlined within the report.

Further Information

Local Plan Review cabinet june ada V6 august 31
LPR Cabinet report Apps 1 2 4
LPR Cabinet Appendix 3 SCI
LPR Cabinet Appendix 5
Local_Development_Scheme_september 2021

45

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Paul Claussen: Executive Member for Economic Development and
Growth

To:

Cabinet: 20 September 2021

Author:

Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control
Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager

Subject:

Local Plan Review

Purpose:

To seek Cabinet’s approval for changes to the proposed approach in
respect of the Local Plan review

Recommendation(s):
(I) That a Single Policy Partial Review of Policy INF 03 is prepared in

parallel with a Substantive Review of the whole Local Plan as
outlined in Section 4 of the report
(II) That timetables for both the Single Policy Partial and Substantive
reviews are approved as set out in the revised Local Development
Scheme
(III) That further work is undertaken and continued challenge and
monitoring to agree the ongoing financial resource required for the
preparation of the Single Policy Partial and Substantive reviews of the
Plan
(IV) That the Statement of Community Involvement is approved for public
consultation for a period of 6 weeks

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Breckland Council adopted the current Local Plan on 28 November 2019. Policy INF
03 of the Plan makes specific reference to the need for the Council to undertake a
Partial Review of the Plan with regard to housing, non-travelling gypsy and travellers,
accessibility of homes standards and economic development. This would be
submitted for examination November 2022.

1.2

The Examination into the Plan took place in 2018. As part of the examination process,
the Council specifically requested that the Inspector recommend any main
modifications (MMs) necessary to enable the Plan to be found sound and capable of
adoption. In February 2019 the Council proposed and consulted on a series of Main
Modifications to the Plan. One of these was to include a new Policy in the Plan
requiring an immediate review of the Plan on key issues pertaining to housing,
gypsies and travellers, internal space standards
and economic development
46

(MM160).
1.3

Following the adoption of the Plan in November 2019 the Council’s Local Plan
Working Group considered a range of options that were available in respect of the
Review of the Plan. These were then considered by the Council’s Cabinet in June
20201. The Cabinet explored the options of whether a full review would be preferable
or whether it would be practical or reasonable to prepare a Partial Review alone, or
as a sub-set of a full review and agreed that on balance, and in light of the critical
risks and issues set out in the Report, to undertake a full review of the Local Plan.

1.4

The Council also approved a Local Development Scheme setting out the timetable for
the full Review2.

1.5 There are a number of changes which have occurred since the Local Plan was
adopted and since the Council committed to undertake a full review of the Plan in June
2020 which have potential implications for the Local Plan review and its timetable.
These are as follows and further detail is set out in Appendix 1 to this Report.








1.6

Uncertainty and delays to the publication of the housing requirement and delays
to work on the revised Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment (SHMAA)
The Review would not accord with the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) and need for a minimum 15-year time horizon for strategic policies and
at least 30 years for larger scale developments such as new settlements or
significant extensions to existing villages and towns;
The A47 improvements near Dereham are yet to be commenced and have been
delayed since they were considered by the Local Plan Inspector in 2018.
The definition of Gypsy and Travellers was subject to a High Court challenge
until July 2021.
The introduction of local internal space standards would require a new plan wide
viability study that could impact on other key parts of the Plan
There are a number of other considerations that have emerged since the Council
resolved to undertake a Full Review of the Plan in June 2020 including the need
for a clearer understanding of the implications of Covid 19, First Homes,
planning reform and the Environment Bill.
Taken together, it is now considered that completing the Partial Review of the Plan
within the timescales set out within Policy INF 03 are, and always were unachievable.
Officers have held informal meetings with civil servants from the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and the Planning Inspectorate (PINS)
to discuss this and has sought confidential legal advice on possible options. It is
important to note that the views of the Planning inspector from PINS were a personal
view and that they may not be supported by fellow inspectors. These are referenced
in the reminder of this note where applicable.

1

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s56398/cabinet%20report%20LDS%20june%202020%20cabinet%20draft
%20final.pdf
2
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/16518/Local-DevelopmentScheme/pdf/Local_Development_Scheme_final_June_1_2020.pdf?m=637475361356970000

47

2

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE LOCAL PLAN REVIEW?

2.1

For the reasons outlined above and in Appendix 1, the circumstances are very different
to those at the time the Local Plan was adopted. A particular issue is the lack of clarity
regarding the housing need for Breckland. The Local Plan Inspector had, understandably
sought to try and ensure that the review was carried out speedily but at this time he was
unaware of the delays and circumstances that have arisen subsequent to the Plan being
adopted.

2.2

Policy INF 03 of the adopted Local Plan as currently worded represents a significant risk
to the Council as having key elements of the Plan an out-of-date plan would leave the
Council vulnerable to unwanted applications and appeals. The Council needs to have a
high degree of confidence that whatever it puts forward would be supported at
examination. It is not feasible to be able to submit in November 2022. In addition and
considering the unforeseen issues in 2020 pertaining to the delays in the publication of
the new housing numbers, decisions to delay the joint SHMAA and the uncertainties
arising from the proposed reforms to the planning system it would have not been
possible to meet the November 2022 deadline even if a Partial Review had commenced
immediately following the adoption of the current Plan in November 2019.

2.3

The Council is required to undertake a review of the whole plan every 5 years. As well
as those set out in the June 2020 Cabinet Report, there are several other considerations
that necessitate a full review of the Plan including the implications of the new Planning
and Environment bills. It is still unclear as to the detail of these and timings for
implementation, but it remains important that progress on the Review is carefully
considered to minimize risk of abortive and costly work being undertaken. It is
considered that work can progress on the evidence base and earlier stages of the plan
preparation, including Housing Needs, design coding and the Call for Sites consultation.

3

Local Plan Review: Options

3.1

There are 3 options open to the Council.
I. Undertake a ‘single policy’ Partial Review that seeks to amend the wording of
Policy INF 03 and remove the date by which the Partial Review should be
submitted for examination to reflect the submission date proposed for the
Substantive Review.
II. Undertake a Full Review of the Plan only.
III. Undertake the Partial Review as set out in Policy INF03 and a full review of the
Plan within 5 years in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework

3.2

Option iii is not considered realistic or preferred as it would not represent the most costeffective option for the Council as some of the required expenditure would be duplicated
(production, legal and examination costs) and the timescale set out in Policy INF03 is
not achievable.

3.2

The Single Policy Partial Review option offers a potential way forward which if
successful would remove the risk of the plan being out-of-date, although it is not without
its own risks. There is no guarantee that an Inspector would regard such an approach
as being ‘sound’. In these circumstances 48
the statement that the policies would be out-

of-date would still form part of the policy. A similar Single Policy Review approach has
recently been successfully completed in North West Leicestershire.
3.3

If the Council is to undertake a Single Policy Partial Review of the Plan then the
inspector carrying out the review will need to be satisfied that:
•

The matters identified in INF03 are being expeditiously addressed as part of the
full review.

•

That there are good reasons why the time limit set in INF03 in respect of the
matters to be the subject of the review are no longer necessary or appropriate.

•

Leaving the deeming “out-of-date” provision in INF03 in place would be an
unnecessary barrier to plan-led decision-taking because the ‘normal’
presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in 11d) of the NPPF is
the better way of determining whether policies in a development plan are up-todate or out-of-date.

•

The Duty to co-operate is satisfied.

•

The Single Policy Partial review has been subject to sustainability appraisal.

3.4

It is essential that the Council should commit to a timely Substantive Review for the
Single Policy Partial Review to be successful at examination. Therefore, a timetable for
the Substantive review will be prepared with a view to this taking place in parallel with
the Single Policy Review of Policy INF 03. This is included as part of this report to
Cabinet and will result in a new Local Development Scheme (LDS).

3.5

The Single Policy Partial Review would have to go through the normal process (i.e.
consultation, submission, Examination) and be “sound”, legally compliant and subject
to sustainability appraisal. But the unforeseen changed circumstances arising since
adoption of Policy INF 03 as set out above point to this as being a possible way forward.

3.6

The Substantive Review of the Plan would need to consider those issues set out in
Policy INF 03, regarding Policy HOU 01 ‘Development Requirements’; Policy HOU 08
‘Provision for Travellers and Travelling Showpeople’; Policy HOU 10 ‘Technical Design
Standards for New Homes’; and Policy EC 01 ‘Economic Development’ along with other
aspects of the Plan is considered appropriate.

3.7

As there is no possibility of carrying out the Partial Review foreshadowed by INF03,
any Single Policy Partial review would need to be based on it being deleted or reworded. The risk of key elements of the Plan being deemed ‘out of date’ represents a
significant risk to the Council. The risk is not just financial but also reputational. If parts
of a Plan are ‘out of date’ then the following process would apply in respect of
considering a relevant planning application (the tilted balance):




Apply rules of s.38(6) -any determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations point otherwise;
If the application is in line with an up-to-date plan and no other considerations
indicate otherwise, permission should be granted (para 11(c) of the NPPF);
If the above doesn’t apply, consider whether there are any relevant development
plan policies and if so whether they are out of date (11(d) NPPF);

49





If this applies, look to whether any of the NPPF policies give a clear reason for
refusing the proposal (11(d)(i) footnote 6). If so, permission should be refused
(subject to s.38(6));
If this does not apply the decision taker should apply the titled balance (11(d)(i)
footnote 7 and s.38(6)).

Footnote 7 makes it clear that policies are to be treated as out of date where a local
authority cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply or meet the Housing Delivery Test. If the
Council can therefore demonstrate a 5 Year Supply of housing land then this would
remain an important factor in considering applications. It does not follow automatically
that just because one of the policies for determining an application is out of date, the
tilted balance must be applied and permission granted. Policies should be viewed
together and an overall judgement made whether the policies as a whole are out of
date.
3.8

Leaving Policy INF03 in place when the Council has no ability to meet its requirements
could cause confusion at best and poor decision-taking at worst during the
determination of planning applications. There is a good case for a single policy Partial
Review of the plan to delete it or amend it. But that will be a burden on the financial and
‘people’ resources of the Council.

3.9

Leaving Policy INF03 in place and concentrating solely on a Full Review is an option.
The Council could publicise its intention to do so, its reasons, and the consequences
for decision-taking to all stakeholders well in advance of the November 2022 ‘deadline’
to ensure clarity for stakeholders. This would mean that key parts of the Plan would be
out of date after November 2022 with the associated risks outlined above.

3.10 Committing to a Single Policy Partial Review(and by default the Substantive review)
now will result in some risk to the Council from the uncertainties currently facing the
planning system that may result from the proposed planning reforms that are outlined
in this Report. It will be important that potentially abortive and costly work on the Plan
is avoided but that the plan progresses within a reasonable yet realistic timeframe. The
Local Development Scheme may have to be revised once the implications of the
reforms are better understood.
3.11 The Substantive Review will extend the plan period beyond 2036, at least to 2041 but
possibly longer, to ensure that any strategic policies look ahead at least 15 years from
adoption as required by the NPPF. This work would need to continue in parallel to the
Single Policy Partial Review. By concentrating only on a Substantive review and looking
to plan ahead to 2041 or 2046 but missing the November 2022 deadline gives the
Council an opportunity to delay beginning the process and thereby reducing the risks
posed by the uncertainties of the proposed planning reforms but this approach poses
a significant risk for the adopted Local Plan in view of the provision in Policy INF 03 for
key aspects of the Plan to be considered out-of-date from November 2022. This could
result in both development and reputational risk in higher numbers of speculative
applications for housing across the District being submitted resulting in increased
pressures and workloads for Development Management and a greater risk of appeals
being allowed. Whist the completion of a Substantive review by November 2024 cannot
be guaranteed, a successful Single Policy Partial Review would ensure that, under the
current NPPF, the Plan will remain up to date until November 2024.

50

4

The Preferred Option

4.1

It is proposed to:



Amend Policy INF 03 and the supporting text of the adopted Local Plan. This is
referred to as the ‘Single Policy Partial Review’.
Continue to work on a more Substantive Review to address the longer-term
development needs of the district, including those issues set out in Policy INF 03.

4.2

The Single Policy Partial Review would relate solely to Policy INF 03 and supporting
text seeking amendments to extend the November 2022 date to match the agreed
Local Development Scheme for the Substantive Review (once completed). Officers
consider that this approach provides for a more robust approach. This option includes
also continuing to work on a more Substantive Review which will extend the plan
period beyond 2036, at least to 2041 but possibly longer to ensure that any strategic
policies look ahead at least 15 years from adoption as required by the NPPF. This
work will continue in parallel to the Single Policy Partial review.

4.3

The Single Policy Partial Review would seek the following amendments to Policy INF
03 and supporting text along the following lines:
Policy INF 03: Existing Text
Policy INF03 sets out the Council’s commitment to undertake an immediate Partial
Reviewof the Plan, with regard to housing, non-travelling gyspy and travellers,
accessibility of homes standards and economic development. This shall be completed
and submitted for examination 3 years after the date of adoption of this Plan or by
November 2022, whichever is soonest.

Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review
The Council will undertake an immediate Partial Review of the Plan, with regard to
the following matters:





Policy HOU 01 Development Requirements (minimum): To consider
housing need and the subsequent strategy for meeting the identified need.
Policy HOU 08 Gypsy and Travellers: To consider the needs of non
travelling gypsy and travellers and identify suitable provision to meet such
a need.
Policy HOU 10 Technical Design Standards for New Homes: To consider
the accessibility of homes standards.
Policy EC 01 Economic Development: To consider the effect of the
dualling of the A47 on the Plan’s economic strategy.

The Partial Review of the Plan will be submitted for examination 3 years after the
date of adoption of this Plan or by November 2022, whichever is soonest. In the
event that the review is not submitted for examination by this time, then the
Council’s policies that relate to the supply of housing, economic development and
gypsy and travellers will be deemed to be out-of-date.

51

Policy INF 03: Proposed Text
Policy INF03 sets out the Council’s commitment to undertake an immediate full review of
the Plan and to submit it by November 2026.

Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review
The Council will undertake an immediate full review of the Plan. The full Partial
Review of the Plan will be submitted for examination by November 2026.

4.4

The Single Policy Partial Review would have to go through the normal process (i.e.
consultation, submission, Examination) and be “sound”, legally compliant and subject
to sustainability appraisal. But the unforeseen changed circumstances arising since
adoption of Policy INF 03 as set out above point to this as being a way forward.

4.5

It is also proposed to engage the other Norfolk and adjoining authorities under the Duty
to Cooperate on this approach.

4.6

Officers have taken external legal advice which supports such an approach. The
Advice considers that leaving Policy INF03 in place when the Council has no intention
or ability to meet its requirements could cause confusion at best and poor decisiontaking at worst during the determination of planning applications. There is a good case
for a Single Policy Partial Review of the plan to delete it or amend it. But that will be a
burden on the financial and ‘people’ resources of the Council.

4.7

The Advice also considers that since there is no intention of carrying out the Partial
Review foreshadowed by INF03, any Single Policy Partial Review should be based on
it being deleted or amended. If the full review takes longer than 5 years (November
2024) policies within it will become out-of-date as a matter of planning judgment, then
that is a matter that can be considered in applying the presumption in favour of
sustainable development in paragraph 11 of the NPPF in decision-taking on planning
applications.

4.8

Officers have also considered a similar approach carried out by North-West
Leicestershire Council that has recently completed a single Policy Review of its Local
Plan that also required a Partial Review of the Plan within a specified timeframe. That
Council also committed to a Substantive review of its plan at the same time.

4.9

It should be appreciated that this approach is not without its own risks. Despite some
reassurances being received from PINS there is no guarantee that an Inspector would
regard such an approach as being ‘sound’. In these circumstances the statement that
the relevant policies in the Plan would be “deemed to be out-of-date” would still form part
of the policy. However, it would not have any effect as the requirement elsewhere in the
policy for the plan to have been submitted would have been complied with; policy INF
03 does not require that the review be found ‘sound’.

5

Timetable

5.1

If the above option is supported then it is important to agree the timetable for
preparation of both the Single Policy Partial
52and Substantive reviews.

5.2

The timetables for both the Single Policy Partial and Substantive reviews need careful
consideration. Critical factors in agreeing timetables are as follows:
•

Available financial resources

•

Available staffing resources

•

It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that is supported by both a financial
and staff resource that will minimise risks to delivery.

•

It is also critical that the Council sets a timetable for the Substantive Review that
can satisfy an inspector, considering the Single Policy Partial Review, that the
council is committed to completing a Substantive review within a reasonable
timeframe.

•

It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that reflects possible changes to the
planning system and does not commit to potentially abortive and costly work too
early in the preparation process or seek to progress the Review too quickly. This
needs to be balanced with the current expectation in the NPPF that requires
Plans to be reviewed every 5 years (November 2024).

Resources for Single Policy Partial Review
5.3

The Single Policy Partial Review must follow the same statutory stages as a full
review. This would be a truncated process comprising:
•

•

•
•

•

•
•

Publication of the Council’s intent to Review Policy INF 03, making it clear that it
has reviewed whether the Policy needs updating and the reasons why it does in
accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF.
A clear statement that the approach will be twin tracked, considering Policy INF
03 in the shorter term and the Plan, as a whole, by the date agreed in the new
Local Development Scheme for the completion of the Substantive Review.
Compiling the appropriate Evidence base
The publication of its intentions with appropriate supporting documentation and
an updated Local Development Scheme will form the Regulation 18 stage. This
will require notifying various bodies and persons of the subject of a local plan
which they propose to prepare and invite representations from them on what a
plan with that subject ought to contain. This will require setting out how Policy
INF 03 would be modified.
Preparation and consultation on the Regulation 19 Plan including Sustainability
Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality Impact
Assessment work
Examination
Adoption

5.4

It is estimated that the Single Policy Partial Review will cost approximately £60,000.
The major costs for this Review will be for the Sustainability Appraisal, examination
and legal costs to support the Council. This will primarily be in the financial year
2022/23

5.5

The Single Policy Partial Review can be undertaken by the existing staff resource and
53
using the existing budget.

Process for a Substantive Review
5.6

The Substantive Review must, under the current process, follow these statutory
stages:
•

•

•

•

•
•
•

The first stage of plan-making (Regulation 18 Notification) requires the
notification to interested parties of the proposed subjects to be included in the
Local Plan, and to invite comments.
Identification and consultation on the scope of the Plan by identifying issues and
opportunities, and translating these into aims, objectives and an overall vision
for the District and each of the larger settlements.
Appraisal of a range of policy and site options and publication and consultation
on preferred choices for inclusion in the First Draft Local Plan consultation
document. This includes all alternative options considered to enable people to
see why a particular approach has been chosen.
Regulation 18 also includes preparation and consultation on Plan including
Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality
Impact Assessment work
Regulation 19 is where the proposed policies and site allocations are published
in a Final Draft Local Plan document.
Following consultation, the Final Draft Local Plan will be submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination.
Regulations 22-26 of the Local Planning Regulations involve the submission of
the Draft Local Plan to the Secretary of State for independent examination, the
examination hearings and subsequent consultation on any required changes to
the Plan before it can be adopted for use - if it is found to be ‘sound’ by the
Inspector.

Future Resources and Timetable
5.7

In order to agree a robust timetable for the Substantive review it will be critical to have
sufficient financial and staffing resources committed by the beginning of the next
financial year (April 2022). To minimise the risk of the Single Policy Partial Review
being found unsound at examination, it will be critical for the Council to agree a robust
timetable for the completion of the Substantive Review, at the same time as the
timetable for the preparation of the Single Policy Partial Review. It will be important for
the Council to have submitted the Single Policy Partial Review for examination before
the November 2022 date set out in Policy INF 03.

5.8

In accordance with the NPPF local plans should be reviewed every 5 years. This
needs to be balanced with the fact that both the process for preparing and content of
the Plan will change over the next 2 – 3 years and the timetable should be flexible
enough to take account of these changes. Over the next year it is likely that the
Council will have better information on the implications of the planning bill and likely
content of the plans and processes including greater digitisation and methods of
community engagement. This can be fed into a review of the Local Development
Scheme as required.

54

Costs for Substantive Review
5.9

The following are the estimated costs for the Substantive Local Plan Review. Whilst it
is impossible to estimate costs with 100% accuracy, the following are based on
experience from previous similar work. The costs are considered to be the minimum
required to meet the statutory requirements of the Review as well as those required to
meet the Council’s own objectives It is important to note that costs are based on the
current process for preparing a Plan and that this may change in the future depending
on the content and timetable for the introduction of any future planning reforms. In
particular the rollout of digitization, the requirements of the Environment Bill and new
design coding.

5.10 Costs can be separated into the following key elements:
Evidence base: Required to underpin the policies and proposals to be included in the
new Plan. It is clear that the new Plan will need to consider new allocations / growth
zones for development, including housing, employment and gypsy and traveller
accommodation. It is also clear that design and environmental issues, such as
biodiversity will be key considerations in the new planning system. The evidence base
would need to be completed prior to the publication of the draft plan and so would need
to be front-loaded into the early years of the plan preparation.
5.11 Under the planning reform proposals in growth areas will benefit from a status akin to
having outline planning permission. In order to demonstrate suitability and delivery the
Council could require promoters / developers to undertake specific studies to
demonstrate suitability and timely delivery, including for example on transport, utilities
including water and power supplies. It is important to note that until the planning
reforms become clearer this approach cannot be guaranteed and that the Council may
have to bear some of the costs. These costs are impossible to quantify and would
depend on the location and scale of the proposed growth areas but would likely be
between £50,000 and £100,000 per growth area. The Council will explore this through
the Call for Sites exercise that will be undertaken in the next few months. There will,
however, be benefits for those developers who secure sites in allocated growth areas
as the slimmed down requirements for obtaining full consents should reduce outlay
and also the time it takes before development can start. These are essential
workstreams and if joint or developer funding is not available then these costs would
have to be met by Breckland.
5.12 The evidence base requirements may change depending on any changes to content of
plans or preparation process from planning reforms. An example of this is the
emerging strong focus on design and beauty and digitisation that could require
additional resource. Paragraph 128 of the new NPPF (July 2021) states: ‘To provide
maximum clarity about design expectations at an early stage, all local planning
authorities should prepare design guides or codes consistent with the principles set out
in the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code, and which reflect local
character and design preferences’. Another area will be the requirements of the
Environment Bill (delayed until the Autumn) including for example enhanced Green
Infrastructure (GI), Biodiversity Netgain and Biodiversity Netgain Credits in addition to
Local Nature Recovery Strategies. The list provided is considered to represent what is
considered essential irrespective of future changes to the planning system. In this
55 central funding available for other planning
regard, it maybe that there may be some

reforms or that Breckland could work jointly within the County with other local
authorities to share costs on some areas of work. These include the following:
•
•
•

Digitisation and an effective consultation strategy and smart mapping.
Design Coding including 3 stages of public consultation
Local Nature Recovery Strategy

5.13 Again, these costs are impossible to quantify and would largely depend on the
requirements of the planning reforms but could be in the region of £200,000
5.14 The estimated costs for the Review remain whether the Review takes 3 or 8 years to
be completed.
5.15 The evidence base for the new Plan will consist of, and will be focussed on, the
Council’s priorities for the topics to be included in the Plan. In addition to the essential
evidence listed above the Council may want to commission other ‘optional’ evidence
depending on what priorities it would like included in the new Plan. Examples of this
include work relating to housing technical standards or renewable and low carbon. Any
associated costs would need to be factored into the programme.
5.16 Some other evidence is and will be prepared by the Council as part of existing
Breckland priorities, or as part of the work of the Norfolk Strategic Planning Group, at
an annual cost of £10,000 per annum, as well as with other agencies and
organisations. Examples of this can be found at Appendix 2 of this Report.
5.17 As a minimum the estimated expenditure for the evidence base is £350,000
Production Costs: Costs associated with its preparation to ensure that it’s preparation
follows Regulation and in order that it has the best chance to be found sound at a
future examination. A real focus of the proposed reforms is a ‘need for speed’ through
the introduction of digitisation and smart mapping requirements The ambitious
proposals include a suggested statutory target of 30 months to put in place new local
plans, measured from the date on which the necessary legislation is brought into force.
This would be extended to 42 months in the case of local planning authorities who
have adopted a new local plan within the three years prior to the legislation coming into
force, or, at the requisite time, have a local plan submitted for examination. If this
proposal remains the date that the legislation comes into force (ie: either before or after
28 November 2022) will inform the timetable for the Substantive Review. In order to
achieve these ambitious targets, it is suggested that the content of the local plan
should be reduced, with the majority of the development management policies being
drawn instead from national policy, contained in the NPPF. In addition, some of the
most controversial elements of the plan-making process such as the duty to co-operate
and the sustainability appraisal (SA) system could be abolished.
6.18 Production costs can be informed by the amount of public consultation that the Council
commits to at the various stages of the Plan’s production. The Regulations set out the
minimum required but the Council could choose to undertake wider consultation
including public exhibitions, parish meetings and developer forums at venues across
the District. The scale of these will impact on both costs, staffing resources and the
time taken for preparation. The costs set out below are only for the statutory minimum
consultation requirements.
56

6.19 The Council is required to produce a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). This
sets out how the public, businesses and interested groups within Breckland can get
involved in the creation of local planning policy, neighbourhood planning and the
planning application decision making process. The SCI identifies how people and
groups can engage with the planning system in the best way. Effective consultation
enables stakeholders and the public to express their views. However, there may be
instances where the Council has to balance all relevant issues and this may mean a
different outcome to some of the views expressed. Where this is the case, the Council
will be transparent in its reasoning. The Draft SCI is at Appendix 3 and if approved
would be subject to consultation prior to being agreed.
6.20 The estimated costs for the production of the new Plan cover the following areas:







Sustainability Appraisal
Production and consultation (minimum consultation and no external parish / town
council public meetings)
Plan viability testing
Infrastructure Delivery Plan
Legal Support
Examination

6.21 As a minimum the estimated expenditure for the Production of the Substantive
Review is £370,000
Staff Resources: The new Local Plan will be produced by the Council’s Planning
Service, with the work being led by the Planning Policy team. It is recognized that the
current contract to provide this service is to be reviewed in 2023, before the Plan would
be completed. However, as the outcome of these discussions cannot be prejudged the
following is based on the current situation.
6.22 At present the team comprises of
•
•
•

Planning Policy Manager
Planning Policy Officer
Monitoring and Research Officer

6.23 The service is supported by the specialist technical skills and knowledge of other
teams, including legal and Housing.
6.24 Officers have established officer working groups both within Breckland and County and
it will be essential to forge closer working relationships with external agencies including
those responsible for flooding and water management and the environment and key
power networks.
6.25 To produce a Substantive review within the timescales set out in this report and the
accompanying Local Development Scheme will require an additional staffing resource
at bots Senior and Principal level. It is considered critical that to produce an informed
and robust Plan, staff resource should be dedicated to Breckland and based locally on
a full time basis for the whole period of production. This continuity and ownership is a
critical factor in plan delivery both for57
members and the wider community. The cost of

the additional staff resource is estimated at £50,000 per annum for Senior and £60,000
for Principal. It is considered that recruitment to these posts should be as follows:



Principal Planning Officer (October 2021 – November 2027): £360,000
Senior Planning Officer (October 2022 – November 2027): £250,000

6.26 The reasons for this are to ensure that there is sufficient resource to guide the plan
making process through its key resource intensive stages of development that are
timetabled to begin towards the end of 2022. The addition of a Principal Planning
Officer will enable the Single Policy Partial Review to be progressed and the addition of
a Senior Officer from October 2022 will enable continued work on the Substantive
Review whilst the Single Policy Partial Review progresses through examination. The
delay to the recruitment of the Senior post will also enable the Council to have a better
understanding of the implications of the emerging planning reforms so that it can seek
to recruit a resource with an appropriate skillset.
6.27 The recruitment of suitably qualified planning policy officers with recent experience of
local plan preparation would bring the available resource to a level that is more
comparable to other Norfolk Districts. For information a Table setting out the current
resource in other Norfolk Districts is in Appendix 4 to this Report. Additional resource is
essential as this will allow for appropriate management of the project as well as an
ability to continue with other existing workstreams including the joint working through
the Norfolk Strategic Planning Group including work on the GI RAMS, Climate Change,
4G/5G Broadband Infrastructure and Elderly Person Accommodation and Support
Needs Studies as well as Breckland focused work including Monitoring, Brownfield
Land Register, Supplementary Planning Document preparation, Design codes,
Neighbouring and other consultations, Planning Reform, Great Crested Newts Brief on
new District Licensing Scheme, Water Resources East and Norwich Western Link and
A47 Dualling work
6.28 As a minimum the estimated expenditure for the staffing Resources for the
production of the Substantive Review is £ 610,000
6.29 The total estimated cost for the production of both the Single Policy Partial and
Substantive Reviews as set out in the Local Development Scheme is £1.410.000
6.30 Table 1 sets out the estimated costs on an annual basis and compares this to the
agreed and projected budget. It highlights a shortfall of £562,000 over the production
period. It is therefore critical that costs are continually challenged especially as the
implications of the proposed planning reforms become clearer.

58

Table 1: Summary of Costs
Partial
R|eview

Substantive Review

Totals

2021/22

110,000

10,000

30,000

10,000

10,000

170,000

2022/23

120,000

15,000

85,000

50,000

10,000

280,000

2023/24

120,000

25,000

110,000

10,000

255,000

2024/25

60,000

110,000

10,000

170,000

2025/26

80,000

110,000

10,000

190,000

2026/27

80,000

110,000

10,000

190,000

2027/28

100,000

55,000

10,000

155,000

370,000

610,000

350,000

Shortfall

Duty to
Cooperate

Evidence Production Staffing
base
Costs
Resource

Totals

Budget

60,000

248,000

78,000

100,000

-180,000

100,000

-155,000

100,000

-70,000

100,000

-90,000

100,000

-90,000

100,000
70,000 1,410,000 848,000

-55,000
-562,000

Timetable
6.31 The following proposed timescale for the preparation of both the Single Policy Partial
and Substantive reviews take account of the following key factors





The need to balance speed with the uncertainties around planning reform
The need to ensure that adequate funding is available
The need to ensure that there is appropriate staff resource available to undertake
the work
The need to ensure that the existing plan is ‘out of date’ for as short a time period
as possible

6.32 It is important to note that the timetable may need to be reviewed depending on the
outcomes of the proposed planning reforms and continued availability of appropriately
skilled staff and or financial resources required to prepare a robust plan.
6.33 Table 2 below sets out the proposed timetables to produce the Single Policy Partial
and Substantive Reviews. This has been considered in conjunction with the Team’s
need to continue with existing separate workstreams and their associated timetables
for both existing workstreams and likely new areas including for example, local Design
Guides, now incorporated into the NPPF as well as workstreams coming from the
Environment Bill e.g. Local Nature Recovery Strategies. It is considered that these
balance the need for speed with the59
necessity to be prudent given the uncertainty

around the emerging planning reforms. If approved this timetable would be published
in a new Local Development Scheme. This is in Appendix 5 to this Report.
6.34

The proposed approach is dependent and takes account of the following factors:
•

•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•

Requires recruitment of a Senior and a Principal Planning Officer to the Team. This
is uncertain given the shortage of qualified planners and the difficulties in recruiting
planners especially in this part of the country.
That the Planning Policy Team remains fully staffed throughout the preparation
process
A total budget of £1,410,000 is available between now and the year ending 2028.
This represents an overspend of £562,000 based on existing and projected annual
budgets (£848,000)
This budgetary requirement will be continually monitored and challenged and may
change as a result of the Planning Reforms, where for example, additional
resources for digitisation and smart mapping may be required
The proposed end date of 2027 allows for flexibility to accommodate changes that
may result from the planning reforms
Will require a smooth process through Working Party, senior officers and Members
Minimal consultation is undertaken to meet statutory requirements.
The current plan would be considered ‘out of date’ for 3 years
The Single Policy Partial Review is at moderate risk of failure at examination

Table 2: Proposed Timetable
Local Plan Review Timetable)
A
B
C

D

E

F
G

H

Partial

Commencement of Preparation
Q3 2021
Time Taken
1 month
Scoping of the Review
Q3 2021
Time Taken
1 month
Prepare revised local development
Q3 2021
scheme (Cabinet approval)
Time Taken
2 months
Prepare and consult on Statement of
Q3- Q4 2021
Community Involvement (Cabinet
approval)
Time Taken
2 months
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report
Q4 2021 -Q4 2022
and preparation (including consultation)
(Prepared externally)
Time Taken
Throughout process
Collation of evidence base
Q3 2021 -Q4 2021
Time Taken
1 month
Prepare Call for Sites (Working Group and
Cabinet)
Time Taken
Consult on Call for Sites and processing
of responses
60

Substantive
Q3 2021
1 month
Q3 2021 – Q1 2022
3 months
Q3 2021
2 months
Q3- Q4 2021

2 months
Q1 2022 -Q3 2026

Throughout process
Q3 2021 -Q1 2024
3 years
Q4 2021
2 months
Q1 2022

I

J

K

L

M

N

O

P

Q

R

Time Taken
First Conversation Consultation (Issues
and Options) preparation and Cabinet
approval (Regulation 18)
Time Taken
First Conversation Consultation (Issues
and Options) consultation and processing
of responses (Regulation 18)
Time Taken
Preferred Options and draft Plan
preparation and Council approval
(Regulation 18)
Time Taken
Preferred options and draft Plan
consultation and processing of responses
(Regulation 18)
Time Taken
Publication Draft Council preparation and
approval for Submission (Regulation 19)
(working Group and Cabinet
Time Taken
Publication Draft consultation and
processing of responses (Regulation 19)
Time Taken
Approval of Submission Draft (working
Group and Cabinet
Time Taken
Submission for examination (Regulation
22)
Time Taken
Examination / Modifications (Regulations
23, 24)
Time Taken
Adoption (Regulation 26) (Council)
Time Taken

Q1 2022

3 months
Q2 2022 – Q3 2022

1 month
Q1 2022 – Q2 2022

6 months
Q1 2023 -Q2 2023

2 months

6 months
Q2 2023 -Q4 2023

9 months
Q1 2024 – Q3 2024

Q2 2022

9 months
Q4 2024 -Q2 2025

2 months
Q3 2022

9 months
Q4 2025 – Q2 2026

Q3 2022

6 months
Q4 2026

Q3 2022

2 months
Q4 2026

Q4 2022

1 month
Q2 2027

1 month
Q1 2023
1 month

3 months
Q4 2027
2 months

7

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

7.1

The Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement. Plans must be underpinned
by an appropriate evidence base, much of which is required at an early stage of the
preparation process to inform future decisions over development strategies and
allocations.

8

EXPECTED BENEFITS

8.1

An up to date Local Plan is a key investment in the District that helps the Council to
shape where developments can take place in the District to maximise environmental
benefits and ensure the provision of
61appropriate transport links, provide for a variety of
homes to meet local needs, built to an appropriate standard, create policies that

address the causes and potential impacts of climate change, and the improvement of
biodiversity, inform providers of infrastructure the types of infrastructure and community
facilities to benefit both existing and new residents, and support new and growing
businesses so that people can work locally to minimise commuting.
8.2

9

If the Council does not have an up-to-date Local Plan, development will still take place.
However, it will not be able to use its own local planning policies to help decide where
development should go, and will be less able to require the schools, open space and
road upgrades that are needed to support development.
IMPLICATIONS

9.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data
Protection; Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing;
Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders /Consultation,
Timescales; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications
under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.
Corporate Priorities
9.2

The Local Plan Review aligns with the following corporate priorities in the Breckland
Corporate Plan 2020–2023.



To deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local Plan, in
conjunction with our key partners.
Enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs
and aspirations to ensure that our residents including veterans have access to a
range of housing options in the district.

Staffing and Financial
9.3

If Cabinet agree the recommendations, then this will mean that there would be two
Examinations rather than the usual one. The Examinations for the wider review will
need to come from future budgets. Additional budget is required of £562k over the 7
years (as detailed in paragraph 6.30). These cost estimates will be further worked on
and options to fund this shortfall will be incorporated into the budget setting process for
approval by Council to ensure the plan is fully funded through to completion.
9.4
The preparation of the evidence base for the Substantive review will be extensive.
It will be required over the next 3 years to be able to inform the draft Plan.
Risk Management

9.5

Policy INF 03 of the adopted Local Plan as currently worded represents a significant risk
to the Council as having out of date policies would leave the Council vulnerable to
unwanted applications and appeals. The risk is not just financial but also reputational.
The suggested approach outlined in the report offers a potential way forward which if
successful would reduce the risk of the plan being out-of-date, although as outlined in
62
the report is not without its own risks.

9.6

There are risks associated with undertaking a Substantive review of the Local Plan at
this time. The timetable is based on the existing planning system and the anticipated
resources required to complete the projects. These may change as these reforms
progress.

10.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
10.1

All

Acronyms
PINS: Planning Inspectorate
GTAA: Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Assessment
PPTS: Government planning policy for traveller sites
MCHLG: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework
SA: Sustainability Appraisal
SHMAA / HNA: Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment / Housing Needs Assessment
SCI: Statement of Community Involvement
Background Papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control
Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager
07775036582
Simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk
Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Yes

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service.

63

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Paul Claussen: Executive Member for Planning

To:

Cabinet: 20 September 2021

Author:

Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control
Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager

Subject:

Local Plan Review

Purpose:

To seek Cabinet’s approval for changes to the proposed approach in
respect of the Local Plan review

APPENDICES 1, 2 AND 4

64

APPENDIX 1: CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES
Uncertainty and delays to the publication of the housing requirement and
delays to work on the revised Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment
(SHMAA)
A1.1

In his Report, the Local Plan Inspector concluded that the Council should review the
Plan evidenced by the outputs of a new SHMAA underpinned by the 2016 based
housing figures that were published in September 2018.The 2016 based figures had
already been replaced by MHCLG, that in February 2019 had announced that it
would be undertaking a review of the methodology used for calculating the
standardised housing figures and in the interim had reintroduced the 2014 based
figures for the purposes of calculating the Government’s ‘Standard Method’, This
conflicts with the content of the Inspector’s Report that requires the use of the 2016
figure. It is considered that using the 2016 figures would have resulted in the Review
being found unsound at examination. Furthermore, a review of Policy INF 03 based
on the 2014 based figures would have meant that by the time of Submission in
November 2022, the baseline for these figures would have been 8 years old and
would likely have been superseded before the submission date. This could have
resulted in the Council being required to undertake a further immediate review. It is
considered that using 2014 based figures would be appropriate for councils who
were at an advanced stage of plan preparation but not for those where a review was
yet to begin.

A1.2

The Review of the housing figures was not completed until December 2020 when
the Government announced the outcome of it’s consultation on the standard method
for calculating housing need. This produced a figure of 661 dwellings per annum for
Breckland District. The transitional arrangements for those preparing plans using the
2014 housing figures were that for local authorities who are very close to publishing
their Regulation 19 plan, there is a three-month window to publish their Regulation
19 plan for consultation, followed by the six months to submit. Critically, this means
that if Breckland had commenced work on an immediate partial review of the Plan
using the 2014 figures, it would have to have been in a position to consult on the
Regulation 19 Plan by March 2021 and to submit by September 2021. Given the
scope of the Review required by Policy INF 03. this would have been an impossible
and unachievable task due to the amount of key evidence that would have been
required, including a new Housing Needs Assessment, Gypsy and Traveller and
Travelling Showpeople Assessment (GTAA) and internal space standards workas
well as the statutory duty to prepare and consult on emerging formulative policies
and proposals prior to submitting a Regulation 19 by September 2021 .

A1.3

The publication of this figure finally means that the Council can now commence
meaningful work on the review of the Plan as required by Policy INF 03. However
the Council has effectively lost 14 months of time due to the ongoing uncertainty of
what the housing requirement would be as a basis to prepare the SHMAA and
could not have met the transitional arrangements now confirmed by the Government
in submitting its Regulation 19 Plan by September 2021 using the 2014 housing
figures. Therefore, any work completed in the last 14 months would need to have
been revisited and effectively statutory work on the Plan restarted.

65

A1.4

To further complicate the situation in March 2021 the Office for National Statistics
(ONS) published new data on the affordability of housing within local authorities
across England and Wales. This data feeds into the government's standard method
for calculating local housing need, against which councils set their housing targets.
For Breckland this has reduced the annual requirement to 643 dwellings per annum
(March 2021).

A1.5

There has clearly been considerable uncertainty regarding the housing requirement
element which the review of Policy INF 03 would need to plan for. In the meantime,
the continuing strong performance in housing delivery as demonstrated by the
Council’s 5 Year Housing Land Supply position demonstrates that the adopted local
plan’s requirement figure (612), that is similar to the new 643 requirement is
sufficient to meet need arising in Breckland and reduces the need for a partial
review.

A1.6

The adopted Local Plan is evidenced by the 2016 SHMAA that was jointly
commissioned by the Central Norfolk local authorities (Norwich City, Broadland,
Breckland, North Norfolk and South Norfolk, together with the Broads Authority
Executive Area) as this best reflects the functional housing market within which
Breckland lies. At the time the Local Plan was being finalised it had been envisaged
that the housing requirements for a review would be based upon a joint review of the
SHMAA. During 2020 the partner authorities worked together to agree a tender brief
for the review of this key piece of evidence.

A1.7

In September 2020, as a result of the uncertainty on how best to proceed with the
Study, following the publication of the Changes to the Planning System consultation
Paper, it was agreed that work on this document be paused until the results of the
consultation were published.

A1.8

In January 2021 it was agreed to consider ways in which work on the Study could be
revived following the publication of the new standardised housing figures. Although
Breckland remained committed to the review of the Study, at these discussions both
Norwich City, Broadland and South Norfolk confirmed that they did not want to
commit to a full review of the SHMAA as this could undermine the progress on its
local plan, that has now been submitted for examination. This is because the
housing element of the Plan is underpinned by the existing SHMAA.

A1.9

Due to delays out of the Council’s control, including the publication of the
Government’s consultation paper and the more recent decision by the Greater
Norwich Local Plan Partnership has resulted in Breckland now having to
commission its own SHMAA resulting in unavoidable delays to any prospect of
delivering a review of the Local Plan within the timeframe prescribed by Policy INF
03.
The National Planning Policy Framework

A1.10 The adopted Local Plan was examined under the 2012 National Planning Policy
Framework. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published
in July 2021.This introduced a number of new plan-making requirements, including:


a clear distinction between strategic66
and local policies,







entry level homes;
a time horizon of a minimum 15 years and at least 30 years for larger scale
developments such as new settlements or significant extensions to existing
villages and towns;
a new focus on the design quality of places and on making ‘beautiful’ and
‘sustainable’ places, through the use of plans, design policy, guidance and codes
including the statement that all local planning authorities should prepare design
guides or codes consistent with the principles set out in the National Design
Guide and National Model Design Code, and which reflect local character and
design preferences;
A statement that local authorities, in regard to public service infrastructure,
should work proactively and positively with promoters, delivery partners and
statutory bodies to plan for required facilities and resolve key planning issues
before applications are submitted.

A1.11 Many of these new elements of the NPPF relate to the delivery of housing. When
combined with the need for a minimum 15-year horizon and in order to comply with
the NPPF provisions regarding strategic policies (including the overall housing
number as set out in Policy INF 03) and for the review to continue to plan for the
period to 2036 (as with the current plan period) it would be necessary for the review
to be adopted by November 2021. This is a year before the requirement in Policy
INF 03 requiring the Plan to be submitted. Allowing for the examination this would
have meant that the Plan would have needed to have been submitted at least 12
months prior to this date (November 2020) only 12 months after the adoption of the
current Plan. When this is combined with the uncertainty over the housing
requirement, such a deadline was never going to be an achievable option. The
Council would then also be required to undertake an immediate full review of the
Plan to take account of the need to keep plans up to date every 5 years and to
reflect the outcomes of the forthcoming planning reforms.
Economic Development
A1.12 The Inspector referred to the dualling of a section of the A47 near Dereham to be
completed by 2020 and that the effect of this on the economic strategy needed to
be considered in the partial review. This refers to the proposed dualling of the A47
between North Tuddenham and Easton. The latest available information on the
implementation of this scheme is that the Development Consent Order was lodged
in Spring 2021, and the examination commenced in August. Work is scheduled to
start in January-March 2022-23 and be completed in 2024-25. This timescale is
considered to dovetail with a substantive review of the Plan and can be factored
into this work.
Gypsy and Travellers
A1.13 The Inspector considered that Policy HOU 08 of the Plan should be reviewed in
respect of meeting the identified demand for Gypsies and Travellers’ Sites under
the Planning Policy for Travellers Site guidance 2015 (PPTS). The Council is yet
to commission an up to date needs report for this particular issue. This work was to
form part of the full review of the Plan as agreed in June 2020.
A1.14 The Council is aware of a recent hearing in the High Court (December 2020: Lisa
67 Communities and Local Government) that
Smith v Secretary of State for Housing,

raises questions of significant public interest concerning discrimination against
Gypsies and Travellers. In particular Ground 1 concerns whether the definition of
“Gypsies and Travellers” contained in Annex 1 of the PPTS is unlawfully
discriminatory. That definition excludes, from the PPTS’ ambit, any Gypsy or
Traveller who has ceased to travel “permanently”. That will exclude, for example,
those Gypsies or Travellers who have permanently ceased to travel due to old age,
disability or due to caring responsibilities.
A1.15 In June 2021 the High Court found that the definition of “Gypsies and Travellers” is
not unlawful. However, the timing of the judgement has meant that it is now
unrealistic and unfeasible for the Council to complete the review of Policy INF 03
within the prescribed timescale set out in that Policy. In the meantime, applications
will continue to be considered on their individual merits on a case by case basis
with reference to policy HOU08 of the Local Plan.
A1.16 Whist it is possible that the total number of those meeting the definition and those
not meeting it would be the same, it is important to note that only the need from
those households who meet the definition and from those of the 'unknown'
households who subsequently demonstrate that they meet it should be considered
as need arising from the GTAA and that would need to be addressed through site
allocation/intensification/expansion policies. The need for those households who do
not meet the new definition will need to be addressed through other means such as
the SHMAA.
A1.17 Furthermore, the evidence base (2015) is relatively old and to rely on it could be
challenged. Even if not, a review would be necessary in the near future to update
the position and this could result in the Council having to identify more sites than in
the partial review. Paragraph 31 of the NPPF states….’ The preparation and review
of all policies should be underpinned by relevant and up-to-date evidence’. The
Council considered that it would be prudent to await the outcome of this case and
whether it would consequently require a change to the PPTS before commissioning
an update to its evidence base.
Planning Reform
A1.18 For some time, the Government had been signaling its intention to make radical
changes to the planning system in England. The Covid-19 pandemic brought
about some immediate changes to certain aspects of planning policy – such as
enabling pubs to offer hot food takeaway services – while other, substantial
changes to the planning system, aimed (the Government says) at creating a new
system suitable for the 21st century, were published for consultation on 6 August
2020 through the White Paper Planning for the Future. The Government also
proposed some changes to the current planning system and launched a concurrent
consultation about that.
A1.19 The consultation documents proposed fundamental changes to both the content of
future local plans and to the way that they are to be prepared. Critically, the
consultations also set out a new proposed methodology for the calculation of the
new standardised housing number. For Breckland this calculation would have
resulted in an annual housing figure of 1,077 dwellings.
A1.20 As a result of these consultations Breckland resolved to pause work on the review
of the Local Plan until there was greater68
certainty on the Plan making process and

in particular on the housing figures. The Council did not want to embark on
potentially expensive and abortive work on the review as the Review would not
have progressed to a sufficiently advanced stage by the introduction of any reforms
(suggested to be November 2021) to trigger any transitional arrangements.
A1.21 It is considered that this decision has now been further vindicated following the
announcement of the Planning Bill in the Queen’s Speech (May 2021). This
confirmed the Government’s intentions to press ahead with a root-and-branch
shake-up of the planning system with the inclusion of a forthcoming planning bill.
The bill, which is expected to be brought before Parliament in the autumn, is being
designed to enact planning reforms trailed in last summer’s planning white paper.
A1.22 It is clear that councils will be required to prepare new local plans. At the LGA Annual
Conference (July 2021) the Secretary of State for Housing stated ‘Let me be clear,
the proposals we will bring forward later in the year will be council led. They will also
be plan led; in fact they will emphasise plans more than ever before. They will require
up to date plans for every local authority because that at the end of the day is the
foundation of a plan-based system’.
A1.23 What remains unclear is the degree of reform that the Government intends to
propose to the plan making process and the timetable for introduction. The
proposed planning reforms are facing scrutiny and there is pressure to abandon the
proposals that are expected to be published in the autumn. The planning reforms
are reportedly being blamed for the Conservatives' recent defeat in the Chesham
and Amersham by-election. Earlier this month the Housing, Communities and Local
Government (HCLG) Select Committee published a report urging the government to
reconsider the reforms, which include a zonal approach for planning and replacing
Section 106 with a national infrastructure levy.
A1.24 The Planning Bill comprises several key strands to create what the government says
will be a more streamlined process. These include:


A traffic light system of zone planning

A1.25 In August, the government recommended that a traffic light system of zone planning
should be introduced which will classify land for either:
 Growth
 Renewal
 Protection
Land in growth areas will benefit from automatic permission, while land in urban
renewal areas will be granted permission in principle.
 A digital planning system
The document-based planning system currently in effect would move to a digital
one. This is designed to improve the speed and efficiency of application decisions
and allow residents to be more engaged in the development of their local area.
 Scrapping Section 106

69

A new infrastructure levy has been proposed to replace Section 106, a legal
agreement between an applicant seeking planning permission and the local
planning authority. However, details on how the levy would work are yet to be
outlined. The HCLG Select Committee is against this proposal and says it could
jeopardise the availability of affordable housing in the UK.
 A Design Code
The reforms would also incorporate a National Model Design Code to improve the
beauty, quality and design of homes in England. The code will include a 10-point
checklist of design principles for councils to consider when approving new
developments. The code also includes references to custom and self build, with
accompanying guidance underlying how design codes can encourage self build and
custom build developments.
A1.26 The Housing Minister also re-iterated the commitment to the Future Homes
Standard that will ensure that, from 2025, all new homes will be expected to have at
least 75% lower carbon emissions and be zero carbon ready without the need for
expensive retrofitting.
A1.27 In May 2021, the Government published a Written Ministerial Statement to set out
the Government’s plans for the delivery of First Homes defining the product as
affordable housing. These changes came into effect in June 2021 and would need
to be considered in the Review of the Plan.
A1.28 The Environment Bill was introduced in the House of Commons in January 2020. It
has since been delayed three times, with ministers stating that the Covid-19
pandemic left too little parliamentary time for debate. The bill includes various
environmental protection measures, these include the establishment of new
environmental principles and legally binding environmental targets, including
achieving net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.
Internal Space Standards
A1.29 The Council acknowledges the Inspector’s requirements to reconsider these optional
standards as part of the partial review but considers that as these are optional the
timing of when and if this is completed is a decision for the Council and can be done
through a full review and should not be required to be submitted by November 2022.
If the Council wanted to introduce optional standards then the requirement to
undertake a viability assessment on this (as required by the Inspector) could impact
on other parts of the plan, including critically remaining housing allocations.
Therefore, standards cannot be considered to be a discreet and isolated part of the
plan and as such are better considered as part of a full review that would also revisit
existing allocations and be subject to a new plan wide viability assessment

70

APPENDIX 2: EXAMPLES OF THE EVIDENCE BASE THAT WILL BE AVAILABLE
FROM OTHER SOURCES
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework
Elderly Accommodation and Support Needs Study
4G and 5G / Broadband Infrastructure Guidance
Climate Change topic paper
Water Resources East
Norfolk Green Infrastructure (GI) and Recreational impact Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)
Norfolk and Suffolk’s Local Industrial Strategy
Breckland Town Delivery Plans
Breckland District Council: Supply & Demand Study: Commercial Property and
Allocated Land
The Cambridge – Norwich Technology Corridor: Future Demand Study
Breckland Sustainable Strategy
Norfolk Local Energy Asset Representation
Anglian Water (Water Resources Management Plan)

APPENDIX 4: COMPARATIVE STAFFING RESOURCE

Name
Breckland
Broadland and
South Norfolk

Population
140,000
130,000
138,000

Area
1,035
552
907

Parishes
113
65
118

Resource
3 FTE1
9.1 FTE Shared resource
with South Norfolk
Place Making Manager
shared with Norwich City

1

Great Yarmouth
Kings Lynn

100,000
152,000

174
1,439

21
101

North Norfolk
Norwich City

104,000
213,000

962
52

121
0

This compares to 5.5 FTE in 2013

71

Joint Local Plan being
prepared with Broadland and
South Norfolk
6 FTE: Includes Tree work
7 FTE: Includes Community
Infrastructure Levy work
6.5 FTE
6.5 FTE

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY
INVOLVEMENT

Draft For Consultation

September 2021
72

3

Foreword
We know that the planning functions that the Council carries out are very important to
the community of Breckland and appreciate that many people feel very strongly about
planning issues. Whilst plans and planning applications have the potential to benefit
the community, we are aware that some can give rise to a range of diverse opinions.
The Council believes that consultation on our planning documents and on planning
applications is essential. We want to make it easier for you to be more involved in
shaping plans and influencing planning decisions in Breckland in a way that is as fair,
transparent and inclusive as possible.
We want to hear what all parts of the community think of proposals put forward by
ourselves as the Local Planning Authority, or by a developer or individual, be it a large
allocation of land for housing development, or a small householder planning
application for a conservatory.
Consultation or engagement is not always about the community saying they support or
do not support a particular proposal. Local people are often the best source of
information about their local area and better decisions can be made by tapping into this
wealth of knowledge.
Councillors have a key role to play in plan-making. They




Act as a link between planning officers and people in the community
Are decision-makers who discuss the plan and decide whether it is ready for
consultation
Give full consideration to all comments received

Whilst we cannot guarantee that your comment on an application or planning
document will always result in the changes you want, we can guarantee that the
Council reads every comment it receives and takes on board what the comment is
saying when making decisions. We will explain clearly to you why we have made the
decisions we have made. This Statement of Community Involvement is our
commitment to engaging with the community in planning policy and development
management. It sets out how we will consult on proposals and who we will consult
with. It also sets out what we will do with the comments we receive.
Planning affects everyone in some way, so it is important that local people understand
the process fully and are given the opportunity to get involved.
Paul Claussen
Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Planning
Paul.claussen@breckland.gov.uk

1

73

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

1

What is a Statement of Community Involvement?

1.1

The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a document which sets out how
and when the Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) will engage with, and
consult with, local communities, local businesses and other interested parties on
planning policy documents and planning applications.

1.2

The LPA is required to produce an SCI under Section 18 (Part 1) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 20041 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
(2021) states that Plans should:
“be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between plan-makers
and communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and
operators and statutory consultees” (Paragraph 16c)
Planning Reforms

1.3

In August 2020 the Government published a White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’
for consultation which would, if enacted into legislation, have a very significant effect
on the process, content and timetable for making local plans. In the context of the
White Paper and need for the Council to carry out its current statutory duties as
efficiently and effectively as possible the detailed work programme will be drawn up
in such a way as to be appropriate under the present or proposed plan making
regimes. The Council will keep abreast of legislative developments and keep
residents and other stakeholders informed of the details and implications of changes
as they arise.

1.4

The White Paper particularly advances the case to:
“move the democracy forward in the planning process and give neighbourhoods and
communities an earlier and more meaningful voice in the future of their area as plans
are made, harnessing digital technology to make it much easier to access and
understand information about specific planning proposals. More engagement should
take place at the Local Plan phase” (paragraph 1.12).

1.5

The timetable for the production of the Council’s new Local Plan as set out in the
Local Development Scheme being published concurrently with this SCI will be
subject to change should the Government’s proposals, set out in the White Paper, be
translated in to law, new national policy and practice guidance. The Council can
make early and effective progress with this initial stage without wasting resources or
time. Similarly, the SCI will be reviewed and updated as required following changes
to the planning legislation.

1.6

The Council is keen to involve local people in the planning process since the
decisions we make in planning have the potential to impact upon local people and
the places they live and work. The Council will be open and honest in the way which
we work and make decisions and we will response to people’s needs in a fair and
consistent way.

1

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/18

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

74

3

3

2

Who is our Community?

2.1 Our ‘community’ includes all the individuals, groups and organisations that live, work
or operate within the District. We recognise that the different groups that make up our
community have different needs and expectations. They also have their own desires,
capabilities and capacity to get involved. This SCI sets out to maximize the
opportunities for everyone in the community to be involved and their voices heard.
Table1: Our Community
Local Communities

The interests of local communities are represented by county,
district, parish and town councils, all have the capability to be
involved. Specific interests can be represented by amenity or
interest groups. The community is made up of individuals who
have the ability and those who find it harder to be involved.

Statutory Stakeholders

There are certain groups that we are required to involve. These
include Historic England, Environment Agency, Highways
England, Natural England, Norfolk County Council and
parish/town councils.

Service Providers

Service providers include local health trusts/clinical
commissioning groups, schools, utility and transport providers,
emergency services, community development organisations
and others. All of these can be easily identified and have the
capacity to be involved in the Local Plan process. However we
will seek to involve them only when it is relevant for them.

Developers And
Landowners

Developers are already involved in the planning system and will
seek to be involved. Most can be easily identified from previous
involvement and have the capability to be involved.
Landowners will be keen to understand and consider the
implications of any policies/ decisions in order to protect their
rights to develop or protect their land and its value. Both groups
will be supported in being more actively involved in the Local
Plan.

Business Sector

Local businesses range in size from the self-employed and
small businesses to larger organisations. Their capacity to be
involved also varies. Larger organisations may have the
capacity to get more actively involved, whilst smaller
organisations may need support in understanding the planning
system, how it relates to them and how they can get involved.

Other Agencies

Other organisations can provide valuable views regarding
specific development plans. These organisations are easy to
identify and generally have the capacity to be involved. Some
may need support in understanding the Local Plan process and
how it relates to their operations, so they are able to contribute
effectively

2.2

1

The LPA is committed to involving communities and other stakeholders in the
planning process. The LPA will:

75

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021



Engage in a timely, and appropriate way with stakeholders, ensuring people are
invited to engage with planning policy and development management before
major decisions have been made;



Use a variety of methods to inform and engage communities in the planning
process. The LPA understands that people with different needs and interests
require different approaches;



Continue to explore new and innovative ways to engage with a wider range of
people, especially focusing on electronic communication;



Avoid using jargon and strive to communicate in the clearest and simplest way
possible;



Ensure public involvement is appropriate to the scale and nature of the planning
issue being addressed in line with the resources available;



Treat participants with respect and ensure the safety and wellbeing of
participants by taking account of the safeguarding frameworks, confidentiality
and data protection guidelines; and



Keep under continual review the suitability and effectiveness of our methods of
engagement, and make changes where necessary.

2.3

It should be noted that comments do not remain confidential; it is the LPA’s
policy to make comments public both as part of the planning application and
planning policy consultation processes. Comments may also be made public
during a public inquiry or examination of a document.

3

Planning policy documents

3.1

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) (as amended) requires local
planning authorities to prepare a statutory development plan that will guide future
development within their area. Development plans are comprised of several
documents.

3.2

The legal requirements for consultation and community involvement in plan making
are set by the Government in legislation including The Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act (2004) (as amended), the Neighbourhood Planning Act (2017) and
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) (as
amended). This legislation sets out the procedure to be followed by local planning
authorities in relation to the preparation of local plans and supplementary planning
documents including who is to be consulted and which documents must be made
available at each stage of the process. However, the legislative requirements do
not specify how communities or stakeholders should be involved and accordingly
the Council has flexibility as to how it undertakes engagement. Furthermore, the
scale and extent of consultation may vary depending on the subject of the planning
document. This section of the SCI sets out how the Council will meet these legal
requirements.

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

76

3

3

Local Plans

3.3

The Local Plan sets out the vision and core policies for the future development of a
district. Over the next few years, the Council will be reviewing the district-wide Local
Plan which will set out the policies and proposals for the development, conservation
and use of land and buildings in the District. Accompanying the Local Plan will be a
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA). The
SA will make sure that social, economic and environmental considerations are fully
considered at every stage of preparation for each development plan document. The
HRA will determine if policies would have any significant effects on internationally
important nature conservation sites and, if so, suggest ways in which the impacts
could be mitigated. When a local plan is published to allow comments to be
submitted the SA and HRA will be published for comments at the same time.
Neighbourhood Plans

3.4

The Localism Act 2011 introduced the idea of Neighbourhood Planning, which
includes the ability for a Town or Parish Council to decide whether to prepare their
own Neighbourhood (Development) Plan. This Plan is more detailed than a Local
Plan; but like the Local Plan, it contains planning policies and allocations to guide
future development and the use of land. However, they will only operate within the
agreed designated Neighbourhood Area. This is normally a parish or town area in
Breckland, but this can include more than one or part of another parish or town area.

3.5

When a Neighbourhood Plan is being prepared, it must ‘take account’ of national
policy and guidance, as well as conforming to the strategic policies of the adopted
Breckland Local Plan. It should also contribute to achieving sustainable
development, as well as meeting EU environmental requirements (enshrined into UK
legislation) and other English legislation and regulation concerning Neighbourhood
Planning. These are known as the ‘basic conditions’, which are tested when the Plan
is examined.

3.6

Although a Neighbourhood Plan will be written by a Town or Parish Council, or a
working group on behalf of them, Breckland Council still has a role to play. It has a
statutory responsibility to provide ‘advice or assistance’ to these groups, but it is up
to each LPA to decide what they “consider appropriate” to assist with producing a
Neighbourhood Plan.

3.7

The statutory stages that Breckland Council is involved with organising are:






1

Public consultation on (where required) and agreeing the Neighbourhood Plan
area
Public consultation on the submission version (Reg.16) of the Plan
Examination of the plan including appointing the independent examiner in
agreement with the Town or Parish Council
Referendum, after the Council has decided that the Plan meets the ‘basic
conditions’ and
‘Making’ (agreeing) the Referendum version of the Plan, where more than

77

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

50% of the local community has voted in favour of the plan
3.8

In addition to the statutory stages, there are other stages of the Neighbourhood Plan
preparation process that Breckland Council is involved with. These are:




3.9

Front loading, which is support before the statutory stages
Environmental Assessment, involving arranging the screening, but not the full
environmental assessment (Environmental Report) if one is required
Ongoing advice and discussions between Regs.14-16 consultations) before
the plan goes out for further consultation and the Examination

Neighbourhood Planning legislation indicates that it is up to each LPA to decide what
‘advice and assistance’ is offered to help the groups with the production of a
Neighbourhood Plan. The type of support offered in relation to this can be
summarised under five basic areas:






General guidance and information on neighbourhood planning
Technical support on the neighbourhood planning stages
Strategic advice on Neighbourhood Plan objectives and direction
Advice on policy content and feedback
Consultation activity

3.10 The amount of ‘advice and assistance’ given in these areas will vary from group to
group, according to the different group’s needs. This advice can be provided through
documents and information on the website, emails and phone calls, as well as face
to face or video conference meetings.
Supplementary Planning Documents
3.11 A local planning authority may also produce supplementary planning documents
(SPDs). SPDs are prepared to expand policy or provide further detail to the policies
in the development plan. They are not subject to independent examination. SPDs
are a material consideration in planning decisions.
When can you get involved?
3.12 To generate broader and richer conversations to inform more effective and
legitimate decision making, the Council is keen to work with others such as Norfolk
County Council to pool resources, ideas, communication channels, contacts and
make innovative uses of new digital engagement and visualisation tools.
3.13 The key informal and formal opportunities for communities to be involved in the
preparation of planning policy documents are set out in Table 2 and Table 3 below.

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

78

3

3

Key to Tables 2 and 3
Informal
engagement

Formal
consultation

Referendum

Final decision

Table 2 - The regulations refered to come from the The Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). For the Examination, the tests of
‘soundness are:





Positively prepared, providing a strategy which meet the area’s needs
Justified, which considers alternatives and is based on evidence
Effective, by being deliverable over the plan period and based on joint working on
cross-boundary strategic matters
Consistent with national policy to enable the delivery of sustainable development

Table 3 - The regulations refered to come from the The Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012. For the Examination, the ‘basic conditions’ test are:






1

Have regard to national policies and advice
Achieving sustainable development
Being in in general conformity with the strategic policies in the Local Plan
Meeting EU environmental regulations (incorporated into UK law)
The legal requirements have been met and complied with

79

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

Table 2: The Local Plan
Preparation
stage

What happens

Key time to get
involved

Development
of the
evidence
base

Breckland Council produces background
research and gathers evidence to inform the
emerging plan. It informs stakeholders and the
public that the plan is being produced.

Examination of
issues and
options, needs
and aspirations

It also carries out extensive and inclusive
engagement with residents and other
stakeholders and begins a Sustainability
Appraisal that continues throughout the
preparation process.

Preparation of
the Local Plan
(Regulation
18)

The Council formally consults on the preferred
option for the draft Local Plan for six-weeks to
allow comments (representations) to be made.

Publication
(Regulation 19)

After taking into account the comments received
on the (Regulation 18) preferred options draft
Local Plan, the Local Plan is formally published
for a six-week period to allow representations
(comments) to be made and are considered
during the Independent Examination).
Any Addendum (further changes) to the
Regulation 19 plan will be published for a further
six-week period to allow additional comments to
be made.

Submission
(Regulation 22)

The Local Plan is then submitted to the
Secretary of State for examination along with
other key supporting evidence base
documents.

Examination
(Regulation 24)

An examination is held by an Inspector. The
Inspector will assess the soundness of the
Local Plan. Those who submitted comments at
the (Regulation 19) stage are entitled to be
heard at the examination.
Any main modifications (changes) the Inspector
considers necessary to make the plan ‘sound’
would be subject to a further sustainability
appraisal and consultation.

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

80

3

3

Table 2: The Local Plan
Preparation
stage

What happens

Key time to get
involved

Publication of
Inspector’s
Recommendations
(Regulation 25)

The Local Authority publish the Inspector’s
recommendations and give notice to all those
who requested to be notified that the
modifications are available to make comments
on.

Adoption
(Regulation 26)

If the Inspector finds the Local Plan ‘sound’, the
Council will need to agree (adopt) the Local
Plan. This may include modifications
recommended by the Inspector.

Table 3: The Neighbourhood Plan
Preparation stage

What happens

Key time to get
involved

Neighbourhood
Area Designation
(Reg.5-7)

An application for neighbourhood area to be
designated is sent to Breckland Council by the
Parish or Town Council (Qualifying body).
The proposal for the designated area will only
need to be publicised for six weeks if the area
is different from the Parish area.

Preparing a
Draft
Neighbourhood
Plan

The Qualifying body engages and consults
those living and working in the neighbourhood
area, gathers baseline information, and
prepares the draft Neighbourhood Plan.

Pre-Submission
(Regulation 14)

The Qualifying body publicises the draft
Neighborhood Plan for a minimum of six
weeks to bring it to the attention of those who
live and work in the neighbourhood area to
make comments (representations) on it.
The Qualifying body also consults the
“Consultation Bodies”, adjoining parish
councils, and groups that represent voluntary
bodies, racial, ethnic, national groups,
religious groups, business groups and

1

81

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

Table 3: The Neighbourhood Plan
Preparation stage

What happens

Key time to get
involved

disabled people in the neighbourhood area.
A copy of the draft Neighbourhood Plan is
sent to Breckland Council.
Submission
(Regulation 15)

The draft Plan, including a designated area
map, is submitted to Breckland Council by the
Qualifying body along with a number of other
supporting documents. These include a
Consultation Statement (outlining what
consultation has carried out), a Basic
Conditions Statement (explaining how these
examination ‘tests’ are met), and any
Environmental Assessment Statements
(clarifying whether no further studies are
required, or a full assessment is required).

Publicising the
Submission
Neighbourhood
Plan
(Regulation 16)

Breckland Council publicises the draft Plan for
a further period of at least six weeks for
consultation.
Breckland Council needs to notify the
consultation bodies and everyone else who
made comments on the previous draft Plan,
where they are listed in the Consultation
Statement (one of the Submission
documents).
During this time, Breckland Council will agree
with the Qualifying body, which Independent
Examiner to appoint.

Submission of the
Plan to
Examination
(Regulation 17)

Breckland Council submits the draft Plan and
supporting documents, along with the
Regulation 16 comments, to the Examiner.

Decision and
Publication of
Examiner’s Report
and Plan
(Regulation 17A &
18)

Breckland Council will make a decision on the
Examiners Report, regarding any modifications
(changes) to the Plan within 5 weeks of the
Report being issued or a date agreed between
the Qualifying body and Breckland Council.

The Examiner will assess if the draft Plan
meets the ‘basic conditions’ (the examination
tests) and will issue a Report at the end of the
examination.

This decision is then published on Breckland

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

82

3

3

Table 3: The Neighbourhood Plan
Preparation stage

What happens

Key time to get
involved

Council’s website to let those who live and
work in the neighbourhood area know about it.
Referendum
(Reg.12,
Schedule 4B,
Town and
Country
Planning Act
1990)

Breckland Council organises the Referendum.
This includes publishing an Information
Statement and a number of other specified
documents (The draft Neighbourhood Plan,
the Examiners report, a Summary of the
Reg.16 comments; Basic Council statement
and a general statement about the Planning
system and Neighbourhood Plans.
This needs to be issued at least 28 days
before the Referendum.
If the majority of those who vote in a
Referendum are in favour, then the plan must
normally be agreed (made) by Breckland
Council.

Date Decision and
Publicising a
‘made’
Neighbourhood
Plan (Regulation
18A, 19 & 20)

The decision on the Neighbourhood Plan
should be made within 8 weeks of the
Referendum.
Once this is completed, Breckland Council will
place a Decision Statement, outlining the
reasons for that decision, and the Final
version of the Neighbourhood Plan on its
website. Details of where and when these
can be viewed will also be included.
A copy of the Decision will also be sent to the
Qualifying body, and any person who asked to
be notified about this decision, as well as
details where and when the Final
Neighbourhood Plan can be viewed.

1

83

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

Consultation on Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
3.14 As SPDs do not have development plan status, they are not subject to the same
process of submission and independent examination as the local plan or
neighbourhood plans. However, consultation plays an important role in the
production of SPDs. The methods of engagement considered for planning
documents as set out in in this Statement below also apply to SPDs. There will be a
minimum of 4 weeks consultation. In accordance with the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) Regulations (2012) (as amended), a consultation
statement will be prepared outlining the persons consulted during SPD preparation, a
summary of the main issues raised during the consultation and how those comments
have been addressed. As soon as reasonably practicable following adoption of the
SPD, the Council will publish the Adoption Statement setting out the date adopted
and that aggrieved persons have 3 months to apply to the High Court for judicial
review of the decision to adopt the SPD.
How will you be kept informed of the development of planning policy
documents?
3.15 Throughout the process of preparing planning policy documents, from the earliest
stages through to adoption, community and stakeholders will be kept informed of
progress as follows:




The Local Development Scheme2
The planning policy page of the Council’s website3
Reports to Cabinet and Council4

3.16 A database of all interested parties wishing to receive information on key
consultation stages is maintained by the Council. If you wish to be added please
contact the Planning Policy Team at the Council by email:
planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk
3.17 When processing personal data, the LPA is required to tell people what we are doing
with it. You have a right to know why we need it, what we will do with it and who we
may share it with. This is set out in our privacy Notice.5
3.17 Information about neighbourhood plans in Breckland is retained on the Council
website6.
Methods of consultation and engagement
3.18 We will ensure all consultations are well advertised. Depending on the consultation
stage, we will use the following techniques, as appropriate:


Advertise and promote consultations on the Council's website.

2

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan-timetable
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planningpolicy
4 https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx
5 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/8649/Planning-Privacy-Notices
6 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans
3

84

3




Send E-mails or letters to relevant parties who have requested to be on our
database. Place posters on notice boards and at public venues at appropriate
locations.
Ask Town and Parish Councils and Councillors for their assistance in promoting
consultations. Promote consultations in the local press or community magazines
using adverts or press releases.
Use of social media and information technology: including the of social
networking sites, such as Facebook and Twitter.

3.19 The consultation and community involvement methods applied will be proportionate
to the nature of the planning policy document being prepared.
INFORMATION: The Council will provide information on what the Council is doing,
what stage it is at in the preparation of the documents, where documents can be
inspected, and how people can get involved. Notices will be placed on the Council’s
website, and advertising through other methods such as social media, news
releases, Council publications or press adverts.
CONSULTATION: Consultation will take place informally during the research stages
of documents and formally during the publication stages where people can comment
on the Council’s proposed policy direction.


Written / email consultations with ‘specific consultation bodies’ and appropriate
‘general consultation bodies’ and other relevant stakeholders (see appendix 1)
and people who have requested to be kept informed.

PARTICIPATION: Inviting representations through:








Public workshops or exhibitions, if appropriate to the nature of the consultation
either in person or virtual via appropriate IT platforms. Every effort will be made
to undertake the consultation outside August and the end of year holiday period.
However, where this is unavoidable, due to the need to make progress on
development plan preparation we will seek to ensure that a reasonable part of
the consultation period extends beyond these holiday periods. Printed
documents will be placed in public venues around the District, for example public
libraries and the Council's contact centres in the towns.
We can print copies of the plan for individuals, but we may have to charge a fee
in order to cover costs. We may deliver leaflets that summarise the consultation
to most homes in an area at certain stages of the plan making process. People
can then drop off completed forms at set drop off points.
Electronic versions will be placed on the Council's website for you to download.
We will accept email responses and letters.
Un-staffed displays may be used. For example, summary posters could be put
up in accessible areas. Questionnaires can be used, either printed or online.
We can translate parts of documents or summary leaflets into other languages
on request as well as provide versions in braille or large print if needed.

3.20 A Consultation Strategy will be prepared setting out in detail the engagement
programme for the whole Local Plan preparation. It will explain the methods of
engagement, how they will be tailored to each consultation stage, the needs of the

1

85

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

community and other consultees. It will contain the following:






The principles of community engagement on the Local Plan
How the Council will engage with partners, town and parish councils, key
groups, infrastructure providers, residents, businesses and landowners and
developers.
Outline the specific consultation and engagement methods of how people are
to be involved and how they can respond.
Roles and responsibilities
Explain how feedback will be provided and how comments will be taken into
account

3.21 It is important to note that consultations are held for a set period of time. We
will make sure that the deadline date and time is well publicised. Any
responses must be sent to us before the deadline. Late responses are retained
on file but are unlikely to influence the document. At the formal stages of
publication of a Local Plan, late representations (ie: those not received by the
closing time and date) will not be considered to be 'duly made'.
Key stakeholders and community groups
3.22 The Council is required under the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations (2012) (as amended) to consult ‘specific consultation bodies’
and other interest groups which cover the whole range of voluntary, community,
special interest, amenity and business interests, referred to as ‘general consultation
bodies’.
3.23 The list in Appendix 1 refers to key types of groups rather than listing every individual
group and organisation. The lists are not exhaustive; the Council maintains a
comprehensive list of consultees which is updated regularly.
3.24 The duty to co-operate was introduced in the Localism Act (2011) and amends the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). It places a legal duty on local
planning authorities and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and on an
on-going basis to maximise the effectiveness of local plan preparation in the context
of strategic cross boundary matters. This means that the Council must seek to
actively engage neighbouring councils and a range of other agencies when preparing
and reviewing its planning policies, particularly in relation to strategic priorities and
cross-boundary issues. The Council will produce a Duty to Cooperate Statement of
Compliance which will be made available for inspection as part of the Local Plan
Examination process.
Feeding information into decisions
3.25 The information and comments the Council obtains through participation and
consultation with the community and stakeholders will be used to inform the
Council’s decisions and shape any documents produced.
3.26 Formal comments will need to be made either by email or by letter. Respondents are
required to provide their name and contact details, preferably email. They will be

86

3

added to a database which will be used to keep people informed of the next stages
in the plan making process. Anonymous comments will not be accepted.

3.27 All comments are registered and can be viewed. Representor’s name and
organisation, if appropriate, are shown against the comment. Contact details remain
confidential.
3.28

At the end of the consultation period, we will produce a summary document. In this
document we will respond to the comments received and indicate how the comments
will be taken forward. We will explain clearly why decisions have been made. This
document will be available on the Planning Policy pages of the Council's website. As
we need to read, consider and respond to every comment received, this report will
be published a little while after the consultation period ends.

3.29 It is the responsibility of the planning policy team to prepare planning policy
documents, undertake consultation, consider the comments and recommend actions
to the Local Plan Working Group (LPWG) and Cabinet, and then implement
Members’ decisions. The recommendations will clearly explain the reasoning for the
recommendation taking into account the views of stakeholders and consultees. We
cannot guarantee that your comment will result in changes to the plan you are
commenting on. However, we can guarantee that we will read every comment and
provide a response saying what, if any, action will be taken.
3.30 Cabinet is responsible for approving plans and related documents for consultation
and submission. Full Council is responsible for approving the submission and
adoption of the Local Plan. Any future changes to the delegation of decisions will be
set out in the Council procedures and standing orders.
3.31 All documents produced will be available at the Council’s principal office and on the
Council’s website. Planning documents which are being consulted upon will also be
sent to local libraries. At times of Government restrictions due to Covid-19 resulting
in either the full or partial closure of principal office, community information centres
and libraries, documents will be available on the website.

1

87

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021

4

Involving the Community at the Planning Application Stage
Legislative Requirement to Consult

4.1

As well as consulting on strategic documents Breckland Council also has to consult
the community on planning applications. The requirements are set out in the Town
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order
2010.
Pre-application Discussions

4.2

All applicants are encouraged to discuss future development proposals with the
Council prior to submitting a planning application. Our development management
team can advise on the general acceptability of proposals before they are submitted
and explain what information is likely to be required to enable the determination of an
application. When we receive a written request for pre-application advice we will
confirm safe receipt, tell you who is dealing with your query and when you can
expect a response. We will provide advice in a positive and proactive manner that
guides you in what additional work might be needed to enable us to reach a positive
conclusion on your proposals (if it is possible to do so). Further information is
contained in the Council’s Planning Application Guidance Notes7 and a Planning
Application Checklist. These are available on the Council’s website8.

4.3

Applicants are encouraged to involve the community, including the Town or Parish
Council or Meeting before a formal application has been submitted as this will help to
address issues and may help to avoid unnecessary objections being made at a later
stage. At times of Government restrictions relating to Covid-19, applicants are
encouraged to discuss the approach with the case officer.

4.4

For all major developments but specifically residential developments of 50 or more
dwellings and commercial developments of 2,000 square metres or more of floor
space, applicants are strongly encouraged to agree the scope, nature and location of
community engagement with the local planning authority in advance. The Council will
wish to be assured that the engagement events and consultation will be –






7
8

advertised widely by a variety of means to reach as many people as possible,
a wide variety of engagement methods are used to enable all sectors of the
community to participate,
that in-person engagement takes place in an easily accessible location to the
communities effected and on days and at times to enable all sectors of the
community to participate (subject to any Covid restrictions),
that communities are given sufficient notice of engagement events, and
that sufficient time is given to respond to consultations.

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planning-pre-application-advice
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2938/Validation-OS-Map-Service

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013

88

17

4

How to comment on a planning application

4.5

Once the application is submitted, the Council must publicise it, consult the relevant
parish or town council, and allow people the opportunity to contribute their views in
writing or online. The Council carries out consultation for applications, even those
when pre-application advice has been sought to ensure there is no bias. The legal
requirements for consultation on submitted planning applications is set by the
Government in legislation including The Town and County Planning (Development
Management Procedure) (England) Order (2015) as amended. These are set out in
more detail below. All new major applications, some minor applications and certain
householder applications are also published weekly in the Eastern Daily Press. This
list appears in the Monday edition of the newspaper. Site notices are also used to
publicise a planning application. These are erected for all major and minor
applications and some householder applications (unless direct neighbour
consultation is undertaken). Site notices are not posted for applications for
advertisement consent and for the majority of householder applications.

4.6

A consultation letter will be sent to Parish/Town Councils (or representatives of the
Parish meeting if applicable), any other relevant body or organisation and
neighbouring properties (who share an adjoining boundary with the application site),
Parish/Town Councils (or representatives of the Parish meeting if applicable) and to
any other relevant body or organization, and/or a site notice will be put up, if
applicable. Consultation letters and site notices will include details of how to view the
application and how to make a comment on the application. Site notices are not
posted for the majority of applications relating to householder proposals (unless they
are a listed building or in a Conservation Area). However, should the planning officer
consider further notification is required a notice will be posted.

4.7

Depending upon the nature and location of the application, the Council may
consult various bodies and organisations to receive their views regarding the
application. These include the Environment Agency, Anglian Water, Natural
England, Norfolk County Council Highways Department, Norfolk Historic
Environment Service, Norfolk Fire Service, Historic England, Norfolk County
Lead Local Flood Authority and others considered pertinent to the proposal. The
Council may also consult internal departments for their specialist views. These
include Contaminated Land, Environmental Health, Asset Management, the
Historic Buildings Consultant, the Tree and Countryside Consultant and the
Housing Team. The Parish or Town Council is a statutory consultee and is always
consulted.

4.8

These organisations/departments are consulted via email (or by post if no email
address is provided to the Council) with information as to how they can view the
application online.

4.9

On occasion, planning applications are revised after they have been submitted,
due to concerns raised by case officers or to comments received from consultees
or the public. Depending on the significance of the changes, the Council will reconsult with the Parish Council, neighbours and anyone else likely to be affected

18

89

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013

by the changes made. The usual time for response to amendments is 10 days.
4.10 Whilst some planning applications might technically be classed as 'minor', they
may still have a major impact for a community. The Council will therefore apply
some flexibility to the approach included in the Table 4 below..
Table 4: Notification

Advertise receipt of
application on
website

Major Applications

Minor Applications

Householder
Applications

Always

Always

Always

Erection of site
notice

Always unless
neighbour consults
have been
undertaken

Always unless the
application seeks
advertisement consent or
neighbour consults have
been undertaken

Letters sent to
neighbours (via email
or in hard copy)

Always (if adjoining
neighbours) and
unless a site notice
has been erected

Always (if adjoining
neighbours) and unless
a site notice has been
erected

Copy of the
application form sent
to the local
Parish/Town
Council/Parish
Meeting

Always

Always

Always

Letters sent to
statutory and nonstatutory
consultees

As applicable

As applicable

As applicable

Advert in the EDP

Always

Only if the application
relates to a listed building,
conservation area or public
right of way.

Only if the
application relates
to a listed
building,
conservation area
or public right of
way.

Press release
Application
considered at
Planning Committee

Dependent upon
circumstances
As applicable

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013

Dependent upon
circumstances
Occasionally

90

Only if the
application relates
to a listed building
or is in a
conservation area
Always (if
adjoining
neighbours)

Occasionally

19

4

4.11

There is a statutory consultation period of 21 days. Any responses received during
this consultation period are uploaded onto the application’s folder on the Council’s
website. A computer is available at the Council offices at Elizabeth House, Walpole
Loke, Dereham, to allow access to the Council's web-site. (Access to the offices
may be restricted due to Covid 19 restrictions).

4.12

You can comment on a planning application in three different ways:




via the Breckland website (preferred method)
via email
via post

4.13 Members of the public can get involved during the consultation period, by informing
the Council in writing of their views on proposals or by providing any relevant
information they feel the Council should know. Only material planning considerations
can be taken into consideration in the determination of the planning application –
further information can be found on our website.
4.14 Applications are also discussed at Parish/Town Council committee meetings.
Members of the public may be able to speak at these meetings. However it is
advised that the Parish Clerk/Representative is asked for that Parish's protocol in
respect of its 'planning meetings'
4.15 Breckland Council's Planning Committee is also a public meeting and anyone is
eligible to register to speak on an application, or turn up on the day to sit and listen
(subject to Covid 19 restrictions).
4.16 All comments received during the consultation period will be acknowledged in writing.
Comments must be made in writing to be taken into consideration.The Council
displays all comments received regarding an application on its website under the
application’s reference (although we will not include any personal information,
inappropriate or offensive comments). These can be accessed by all members of the
public.
4.17 The planning officer responsible for an application which receives comments will take
all comments received into consideration when making his/her recommendation.
Where appropriate, comments received may result in amendments being made to
the proposal and/or adding conditions to the decision notice. In some instances,
comments received may result in the refusal of a proposal.
4.18 Every planning officer will ensure that any comment received is referenced in their
final report on the proposal, whether or not further action has been taken as a result
of the comment. Planning Officers will not respond directly to parties with regards to
comments made but matters will be referenced in the planning committee or
delegated report.

20

91

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013

Planning Committee
4.20 The Planning Committee comprises elected Councillors and is responsible for
making decisions on applications received by the Council, excluding those which fall
within delegated powers. Committee reports are available seven working days before
Committee. On applications reported to Committee the Council operates a policy of
public speaking. Details on how to get involved in meetings can be found by
contacting planningusher@breckland.gov.uk .At times of Government restrictions
due to Covid-19 meetings take place virtually using Zoom and public speaking is still
facilitated with the same rights and rules applying. If a speaker is unable to use
Zoom, it is possible a statement can be read out on their behalf.
4.21 The majority of applications are not required to go before the Planning Committee to
be decided because they are of a nature that enables them to be determined by the
Council's Executive Director of Place . For those applications that need to go to Planning
Committee, The Planning Committee meeting is held approximately every 4 weeks
at the Council offices in Dereham or via Zoom at times of Government restrictions.
4.22 Members of the public, the Parish Council and ward member are eligible to speak at the
Planning Committee, either as supporters or objectors and do not need to have
provided comments during the initial consultation period. Attendance by the
applicant/agent is also encouraged.
4.23 Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 minutes. If more than one
objector/supporter from a group wishes to speak, then a total of 3 minutes will be
divided between that group. However, it is advised that a group nominate a single
spokesperson due to the limited speaking time. The Planning Committee Usher will
advise whether there are other interested parties who have requested to speak. A
guide to public speaking is included with all acknowledgements of representations.
4.24 Anyone who wishes to speak regarding an application must contact the Committee
Usher at planningusher@breckland.gov.uk. The deadline is noon on the Wednesday
before the committee meeting (if it happens on a Monday).
4.25 It is advised that your speech should be brief and to the point, referring to relevant
planning issues. Illustrative material is permitted to clarify issues but must be provided
in advance of the meeting in accordance with the committee procedures.
4.26 In determining an application the Council will ensure that:





all decisions will be made in accordance with the development plan/relevant
legislation but also taking into account other material considerations
it has acted in a positive and proactive manner and look to find solutions. Where
amendments or changes to a scheme could potentially turn an unacceptable
proposal into an acceptable one, we will offer the applicant an opportunity to
make these changes
set out how the points made at the consultation stage have been taken into
account in reaching any decision

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021
v1

92

21

2
2

4.27 A decision notice will be sent to the applicant, explaining the reasons why a planning
application has or has not been granted planning permission. Planning decisions are
published on the Council’s website.
Appeals

4.28 If an application is refused or not determined within statutory timeframes, the
applicant may exercise their right to appeal. When the Council is notified of an
appeal by the Planning Inspectorate, the Council will notify interested parties of the
appeal and provide a copy of comments made on the application to the Planning
Inspectorate. Interested parties will be advised on how they can participate in the
appeal process, including venue and time of any informal hearing or public inquiry. At
times of Government restrictions due to Covid-19 hearings and inquiries will take
place virtually and participants will be informed on how they can participate.
5

Reviewing and Monitoring the SCI
Reviewing and Revising the SCI

5.1

The SCI will be kept under review and revised where necessary. Revisions would
only be made if there are new groups we wish to engage with or the regulations
relating to public consultation change.
Monitoring the SCI and Data Protection

5.2

It is important to note that the Council will only ask relevant questions and we only
collect this information to monitor the effectiveness of our approach to engaging
with the community. We will not pass information or details on to anyone else, nor
identify anyone personally.

5.3

Breckland District Council is registered under the Data Protection Act 1988 for the
purpose of processing personal data in the performance of its legitimate business.
The information held by the Council will be processed in compliance with the
principles.
Complaints Procedure

5.4

A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction about a service provided by the
Council or by a contractor or partner affecting an individual resident or a group of
residents, that requires a response.

5.5

Breckland Council is committed to high standards of customer care, service delivery
and performance. If you are unhappy with any service you have received from
Breckland Council we want to put things right as quickly as
possible.
The
complaints procedure can be found on Breckland's website9.

5.6

The following are the categories of complaints that fall within the procedure.

9

22

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/7806/Compliments-Complaints

93

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013








Failure to consider relevant matters in coming to a decision or implementing it
– but not the decision itself. Inappropriate attitudes or actions by individual
employees or Councillors (but not if the complaint is really about a Council
policy or decision).
Delays in responding, or complaints about the administrative process.
Failure to provide a service properly or at all – for example, not doing
something we either should do or have advised the resident we will do. An
example could include not turning up for a pre-arranged meeting.
Failure to fulfil statutory responsibilities – but not disagreements with those
powers or duties.
Bias or unfair discrimination

5.7

If you wish to make a complaint, you can do so by using the on-line form, e-mailing
us (complaints@breckland.gov.uk), or writing to The Standards Officer, Breckland
Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.

5.8

We will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 working days of receipt. All
complaints will be investigated and responded to within 15 working days. Some
complaints may take more time to investigate, but we will keep you informed of our
actions and the progress we have made.

5.9

If, after following the procedure as set out on the website, you remain unhappy, you
may refer the matter to the Local Government Ombudsman for an independent
investigation. The Ombudsman’s contact details are:
 Telephone: 0300 061 0614
 Website: www.lgo.org.uk
 Write to: Local Government Ombudsman, P.O. Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021
v1

94

23

6

Contact details

6.1

For more information on the SCI, or about planning documents or planning
applications in the Breckland area, please contact us using the details given
below:
Planning Policy and Neighbourhood Planning
Write

Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Website

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planningpolicy
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans

E - mail

planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk
NeighbourhoodPlanning@breckland.gov.uk

Development Management

24

Write

Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Website

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planning

E - mail

planning@breckland.gov.uk

95

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021
v1

Appendix 1: Key Stakeholders















































Adjoining county councils – Suffolk County Council
Adjoining district councils: North Norfolk. King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, Broadland,
South Norfolk, West Suffolk
Age UK
Airport Operators Association
Ancient Monuments Society
Anglian Water and wastewater undertakers
British Geological Society
Civil Aviation Authority
Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS providers
Communities and Local Government
Council for British Archaeology
CPRE Norfolk
Crime Prevention and Architectural Liaison Officer (Norfolk Police)
Crown Estate
Design Council
Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee
East of England Ambulance Service
Electronic Communications Operators
Environment Agency
Equity and Human Rights Commission
Fields in Trust
Forestry Commission
Freight Transport Association
Friends of the Earth
Gypsy Roma Traveller Achievement Service
Health and Safety Executive
Highways England
Historic England
Home Builders Federation
Homes England
Landowners, agents, developers and Housing Associations operating in the area
Local Enterprise Partnership (New Anglia)
Local Nature Partnership (Wild Anglia)
Ministry of Defence
Mobile Operators Association
National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups
National Grid
National Trust
Natural England
Network Rail
NHS Norfolk
Norfolk Biodiversity Partnership
Norfolk County Council
Norfolk County Fire & Rescue Service

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021
v1

96

25



















Norfolk Fire Service
Norfolk Geodiversity Partnership
Norfolk Landscape Archaeology
Norfolk Local Access Forum
Norfolk Rural Community Council
Norfolk Tourism Team
Norfolk Wildlife Trust
Parish and town councils, including those within the District and those that adjoin the
District
Renewables East
RSPB
Secretary of State for Transport
Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings
Sport England
Theatres Trust
Train Operating Companies
UK Power Networks
Woodland Trust



26

97

Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021
v1

Breckland Local Plan Review
Local Development Scheme

September 2021

98

1.

Introduction
Background

1.1

The government requires local planning authorities to prepare a Local
Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS is a five year project plan and this version
covers the period 2020-2025. The purpose of a LDS includes setting out the
timetable for the delivery of Council produced planning policy documents. These
are often referred to as Development Plan Documents or Local Plans. During the
period 2021-2025, the Council intends to complete a partial review relating to
Policy INF 03 of the Breckland Local Plan (November 2019) and to complete a
significant amount of work on a Substantive Review of the whole Plan. The
Reviews will affect the whole of Breckland District.

1.2

This LDS contains a timetable for the delivery of the 2 reviews to inform local
people and stakeholders of the key milestones in their production.

1.3

This LDS was approved by Cabinet on September 202021 and came into effect on
the same day. This iteration of the LDS supersedes previous versions of the LDS
and covers the period 2021-2026.

2.

The Existing Development Plan

2.1

Development Plans are an important part of the English planning system and are
needed to guide the local decision making process for land uses and development
proposals.

2.2

At September 2021, the Development Plan for Breckland comprised
Breckland Local Plan and associated Policies Map (November 2019)

2.3

Breckland District Council adopted the Breckland Local Plan on November 28th
2019 to replace the suite of plans produced as part of the Local Development
Framework process and is now in the process of undertaking a Local Plan review.
The Local Plan sets out the framework for development within the District until
2036. It includes a spatial vision, objectives and key policies. It also includes an
associated ‘Policies Map’ that sets out the geographical extent of key designations
and site specific proposals set out in the local plan.
Further information on the Local Plan can be found at the following link:
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/adoption
• Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009) (Saved
policies)
• Thetford Area Action Plan (2012) (Saved policies)
Further information on these plans can be found at the following link:
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/previous-local-plan

99








Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036 (January 2018)
Croxton, Brettenham and Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2036
(January 2019)
Mattishall Neighbourhood Plan 2017 – 2036 (November 2017)
Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan 2016 - 2036 (May 2019)
Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan 2016 - 2036 (December 2019)
Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 2016 – 2036 (June 2017)

2.4

The Localism Act (2011) provides the opportunity for communities to prepare
Neighbourhood Plans to guide further development that they may wish to see in
their communities. Neighbourhood Plans, once adopted, form part of the
Development Plan for the area and are used in the determination of Planning
Applications. Neighbourhood Plans1 are prepared by Town and Parish Councils to
address key local priorities. Their key milestones are specific to each document.
The regulations do not require neighbourhood plans to be included within the
LDS.

2.5

Neighbourhood Development Plans are prepared by Parish Councils and the
plans are subject to consultation, independent examination and referendum. The
plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the adopted local
plan, and should have regard to any emerging Local Plan.

2.6

A neighbourhood area has to be designated for a Neighbourhood Development
Plan to be produced. In total, 13 Parish Councils (1 joint with 3 parishes) have
designated Neighbourhood Areas. To date, 6 Neighbourhood Plans have been
made and the remaining 7 are at various stages of preparation.
Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following
link:
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans
Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (July 2016)

2.8

The adopted Norfolk Minerals and Waste Development Framework contains the
following three minerals and waste planning policy documents and a policies
map. These documents contain policies for use in making decisions on planning
applications for mineral extraction and associated development and waste
management facilities, and in the selection of specific site allocations in Norfolk:




Core Strategy and Minerals and Waste Development Management Policies
Development Plan Document 2010-2026 (adopted September 2011)
Minerals Site Specific Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD)
(adopted October 2013, amendments adopted December 2017)
Waste Site Specific Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) (adopted
October 2013)

100



Revised PDF policies map and the revised interactive policies map which
includes the Site Specific Allocations and an interactive map of Mineral
Safeguarding Areas.

Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following
link:
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans
2.10 The County Council is preparing a Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan
Review, to consolidate the three adopted plans into one Local Plan, ensure that the
policies within them remain up-to-date and to extend the plan period to the end of
2036.
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performanceand-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planningpolicies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review
Other Planning Documents
2.11 In addition to the above components of the Development Plan, there are other
key planning documents that the Council can produce. These include:







Supplementary Planning Documents – these set out further information,
interpretation or clarification regarding existing planning policies and are
produced and adopted by the Council in accordance with government
requirements
Planning policy guidance – these set out further information, interpretation or
clarification regarding existing planning policies but have not been produced
to meet government Supplementary Planning Document requirements
Statement of Community Involvement – a procedural document that sets out
the methods for consultation and engagement with the public and
stakeholders. This includes consultation and engagement during the
production of Local Plans, the production of Neighbourhood Development
Plans, and the Development Management process.
Authority Monitoring Reports – a procedural document, produced on an
annual basis that monitors performance against the Local Plan.

2.12 In Breckland the Planning Team are currently preparing a supplementary
planning document on Affordable Housing (in conjunction with the Council’s
Housing Team).
2.13 The Council also prepares two additional documents: a Statement of Community
Involvement detailing how people will be involved in the planning system; and a
Monitoring Report that considers how effectively the Local Plan policies are being
implemented.

101

3

Overview of Local Development Documents to be produced
Partial Review

3.1

The Local Plan was found sound following independent examination and was
adopted by Full Council on 28 November 2019. The Plan contains Policy INF
03. This requires an immediate review of the local plan covering 4 key areas.

3.2

The Policy states:
Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review
The Council will undertake an immediate partial review of the Plan, with
regard to the following matters





Policy HOU 01 Development Requirements (minimum): To
consider housing need and the subsequent strategy for meeting
the identified need.
Policy HOU 08 Gypsy and Travellers: To consider the needs of
nontravelling gypsy and travellers and identify suitable provision
to meet such a need.
Policy HOU 10 Technical Design Standards for New Homes: To
consider the accessibility of homes standards.
Policy EC 01 Economic Development: To consider the effect of
the dualling of the A47 on the Plan’s economic strategy.

The partial review of the Plan will be submitted for examination 3 years
after the date of adoption of this Plan or by November 2022, whichever
is soonest. In the event that the review is not submitted for examination
by this time, then the Council’s policies that relate to the supply of
housing, economic development and gypsy and travellers will be
deemed to be out-of-date.

3.3

The Partial Review relates solely to Policy INF 03 and supporting text seeking
amendments to extend the ‘November 2022 date to match the agreed Local
Development Scheme for the Substantive Review (once completed). Officers
consider that this approach provides for a more robust approach. This option
includes also continuing to work on a more Substantive Review which will extend
the plan period beyond 2036 to 2041. Work will continue in parallel to the
substantive review.

3.4

The partial Review must follow the same statutory stages as a full review. This
would be a truncated process comprising:
•

•

•

Publication of the Council’s intent to Review Policy INF 03, making it clear
that it has reviewed whether the Policy needs updating and the reasons
why it does in accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF.
A clear statement that the approach will be twin tracked, considering Policy
INF 03 in the shorter term and the Plan, as a whole, by the date agreed in
the new Local Development Scheme for the completion of the Substantive
Review.
102 base
Compiling the appropriate Evidence

•

•

•
•
3.5

The publication of its intentions with appropriate supporting documentation
and an updated Local Development Scheme will form the Regulation 18
stage. This will require notifying various bodies and persons of the subject
of a local plan which they propose to prepare and invite representations
from them on what a plan with that subject ought to contain. This will
require setting out how Policy INF 03 would be modified.
Preparation and consultation on the Regulation 19 Plan including
Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality
Impact Assessment work
Examination
Adoption

There is a greater likelihood of the suggested approach being found ‘sound’ if the
Council can demonstrate that it is making significant progress on a wider review.
Therefore, a timetable for both reviews have been prepared and are set out in this
Local Development Scheme.
Substantive Review

3.6

The Substantive Review must, under the current process, follow these statutory
stages:
•

•

•

•

•
•
•

The first stage of plan-making (Regulation 18 Notification) requires the
notification to interested parties of the proposed subjects to be included in
the Local Plan, and to invite comments.
Identification and consultation on the scope of the Plan by identifying
issues and opportunities, and translating these into aims, objectives and an
overall vision for the District and each of the larger settlements.
Appraisal of a range of policy and site options and publication and
consultation on preferred choices for inclusion in the First Draft Local Plan
consultation document. This includes all alternative options considered to
enable people to see why a particular approach has been chosen.
Regulation 18 also includes preparation and consultation on Plan including
Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality
Impact Assessment work
Regulation 19 is where the proposed policies and site allocations are
published in a Final Draft Local Plan document.
Following consultation, the Final Draft Local Plan will be submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination.
Regulations 22-26 of the Local Planning Regulations involve the
submission of the Draft Local Plan to the Secretary of State for
independent examination, the examination hearings and subsequent
consultation on any required changes to the Plan before it can be adopted
for use - if it is found to be ‘sound’ by the Inspector.

Future Resources and Timetable
3.7

In order to agree a robust timetable for the substantive review it will be critical to
have sufficient financial and staffing resources in place by 2022. To minimise the
risk of the Partial Review being found unsound at examination, it will be critical for
the Council to agree a robust timetable for the completion of the Substantive
103 for the preparation of the Partial
Review, at the same time as the timetable

Review. It will be important for the Council to have submitted the Partial Review
for examination before the November 2022 date set out in Policy INF 03.
3.8

In accordance with the NPPF local plans should be reviewed every 5 years. This
needs to be balanced with the fact that both the process for preparing and content
of the Plan will change over the next 2 – 3 years and the timetable should be
flexible enough to take account of these changes. Over the next year it is likely
that the Council will have better information on the implications of the planning bill
and likely content of the plans and processes including greater digitisation and
methods of community engagement. This can be fed into a review of the Local
Development Scheme as required.

4

Timetable and Resources

4.1

The timetables for both the partial and substantive reviews need careful
consideration. Critical factors in agreeing timetables are as follows:
•

Available financial resources

•

Available staffing resources

•

It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that is supported by both a
financial and staff resource committed appropriate to minimise risks to
delivery.

•

It is also critical that the Council sets a timetable for the substantive Review
that can satisfy an inspector, considering the partial review, that the council
is committed to completing a substantive review within a reasonable
timeframe.

4.2

It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that reflects possible changes to the
planning system and does not commit to potentially abortive and costly work too
early in the preparation process or seek to progress the Review too quickly. This
needs to be balanced with the current expectation in the NPPF that requires Plans
to be reviewed every 5 years (November 2024).

4.3

The production of the new Local Plan will follow the full statutory processes,
including the preparation of a Sustainability Appraisal, public participation and
other regulatory requirements. The Local Plan will be subject to Examination by an
independent Inspector.

4.4

The documents that Breckland Council proposes to prepare are as follows:
(1) The new Local Plan,
(2) Policies Maps,
(3) A Statement of Community Involvement
(4) A 5 Year Housing Land Statement in accordance with the requirements of
the NPPF.

4.5

Appendix 1 sets out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan Review.
Availability of the LDS

4.2

The Council is required by the regulations to make the LDS available to the
public. Copies are available for inspection
104 at the Council’s offices in Dereham.

The LDS is also available to view on the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s
website [www.breckland.gov.uk].

105

Appendix 1: Timetable
Coverage: District Wide
Governance: Local Plan Working Group /
Cabinet / Full Council
A Commencement of Preparation
Time Taken
B Scoping of the Review

C

D

E

F
G

H

I

J

K

L

M

Time Taken
Prepare revised local development
scheme (Cabinet approval)
Time Taken
Prepare and consult on Statement of
Community Involvement (Cabinet
approval)
Time Taken
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report
and preparation (including consultation)
(Prepared externally)
Time Taken

Partial

Substantive

Q3 2021
1 month
Q3 2021
1 month
Q3 2021

Q3 2021
1 month
Q3 2021 – Q1
2022
3 months
Q3 2021

2 months
Q3- Q4 2021

2 months
Q3- Q4 2021

2 months
Q4 2021 -Q4 2022

2 months
Q1 2022 -Q3 2026

Throughout
process
Q3 2021 -Q4 2021
1 month

Throughout
process
Q3 2021 -Q1 2024
3 years
Q4 2021

Collation of evidence base
Time Taken
Prepare Call for Sites (Working Group
and Cabinet)
Time Taken
Consult on Call for Sites and
processing of responses
Time Taken
First Conversation Consultation (Issues Q1 2022
and Options) preparation and Cabinet
approval (Regulation 18)
Time Taken
1 month
First Conversation Consultation (Issues Q1 2022 – Q2
and Options) consultation and
2022
processing of responses (Regulation
18)
Time Taken
2 months
Preferred Options and draft Plan
preparation and Council approval
(Regulation 18)
Time Taken
Preferred options and draft Plan
consultation and processing of
responses (Regulation 18)
Time Taken
Publication Draft Council preparation
Q2 2022
and approval for Submission
(Regulation 19) (working Group and
Cabinet
106
Time Taken
2 months

2 months
Q1 2022
3 months
Q2 2022 – Q3
2022
6 months
Q1 2023 -Q2 2023

6 months
Q2 2023 -Q4 2023

9 months
Q1 2024 – Q3
2024
9 months
Q4 2024 -Q2 2025

9 months

N

O

P

Q

R

Publication Draft consultation and
processing of responses (Regulation
19)
Time Taken
Approval of Submission Draft (working
Group and Cabinet
Time Taken
Submission for examination
(Regulation 22)
Time Taken
Examination / Modifications
(Regulations 23, 24)

Q3 2022

Time Taken
Adoption (Regulation 26) (Council)
Time Taken

107

Q4 2025 – Q2
2026

Q3 2022

6 months
Q4 2026

Q3 2022

2 months
Q4 2026

Q4 2022

1 month
Q2 2027

1 month
Q1 2023
1 month

3 months
Q4 2027
2 months

Overview Scrutiny Work Programme 2021
This is an outline programme only and will be amended as issues arise or priorities change

Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme
Date

Inspiring Communities Programme - to receive an update on the programme / how are projects selected / what is the process
for funding / what is the expected benefits of the projects
KPI Review
Q2 Performance Report
Chairman's Panel - Governance Review - To advise Members of the role of Chairman’s Panel and the process for Planning
Applications.
CALL IN: Local Plan Review (Cabinet decision made 20 Sept)

16 December 2021

Member / Director / Lead Officer

Agenda Item 14

28 October 2021

Topic

Alison Webb / Steve James
Jason Cole / Ryan Pack
Jason Cole / Ryan Pack
Simon Wood / Rob Walker

Greg Pearson / Michel Bolaboto
Electrical Charging Points - How well are these being used within the distict? how to find them,
exact location and how many are available at that position. To include an update on the Climate Change Programme

27 January 2022

Draft budget setting, Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital Strategy 2022-23
Q3 Performance Report

Cllr Phil Cowen / Alison Chubbock
Jason Cole / Ryan Pack

21 April 2022

AI Update - to receive an update on the AI progress
Q4 Performance Report

Jason Cole / Adele Newsome
Jason Cole / Ryan Pack

date tbc

Invite Serco to provide an update on the performance of the new contract
Invite Anglia Water & UK Power Networks - Following Power Outage over Christmas in Shipdham, and Sewage issues in Yaxham
invite the utility companies to discuss future practice with more housing developments going on and what contingencies they
may have in place to avoid future issues long term.
Banham Poultry and Environment Agency (follow-up to councillor call for action on 3 Dec)
Local Procurement processes - to understand the process of how BDC procure local contractors/resources
To understand the number of Empty Properties that have been brought back to use
Review of the IT infrastructure and the strength of the current systems (request from Cllr Birt, at meeting of 3/6/21)

as follow-up from 9/9/21 meeting
Requested by Lynda Turner
a Task & Finish Group

108

10 March 2022

Cllr Alison Webb / Gill Duffy

This will be

Issued –
Effective for Period:

KEY DECISION PLAN
VERSION 10/21

01/10/21 - 30/09/22

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision is likely to be made, to:
Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.
Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
The Key Decision Plan shows all key and significant decisions that are likely to be made over the next twelve months

109

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is expected to be made.
Key Decision – means a decision which, in relation to an Executive Function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to
result in the Authority incurring expenditure, or making savings, in any single financial year above £250,000
Significant Decision -: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any nonExecutive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council,
particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)
PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

1

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

Cllr Phil Cowen,
Executive
Member for
Finance,
Revenue and
Benefits, Cllr
Sarah Suggitt,
Executive
Member for
Planning, Leisure
and Contracts

Award of contract for support of revenues and benefits
software when the current support agreement expires in
early 2022. To continue the support for the current
revenues and benefits software to allow service
provision to continue without interruption.

Officer Decision

To agree an extension to the existing recycling
arrangements and movement towards a variable gate
fee

See report

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

Award of contract
for continued
support of
revenues and
benefits software

Assistant Director Finance & S151
Officer

MRF recycling
arrangements

Cabinet 15 Nov 2021

Date tbc

110

Award of contract
for continued
support of
revenues and
benefits software
Cllr Gordon
Bambridge,
Executive
Member for
Waste and
Environment
MRF recycling
arrangements

2

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

Cllr Phil Cowen,
Executive
Member for
Finance,
Revenue and
Benefits

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

To approve the Treasury Management Policy & Strategy
and the Prudential Indicators for 2022-23

See report

Treasury
Management
Policy & Strategy
2022-23

Governance and Audit Committee
2 Dec 2021

To set the amounts of Council Tax applicable for 202223 for each valuation bands and in each part of the
district

See report

Council Tax 202223

Council 24 Feb 2022

To approve the capital and revenue budget and
proposed Council Tax, the financial Medium Term Plan
and the Capital Strategy

See report

Budget Setting,
Medium Term
Financial Plan and
Capital Strategy
2022-23

Council 24 Feb 2022

Treasury
Management
Policy & Strategy
2022-23

111

Cllr Phil Cowen,
Executive
Member for
Finance,
Revenue and
Benefits
Council Tax
2022-23
Cllr Phil Cowen,
Executive
Member for
Finance,
Revenue and
Benefits
Budget Setting,
Medium Term
Financial Plan
and Capital
Strategy 2022-23

3

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

Cllr Phil Cowen,
Executive
Member for
Finance,
Revenue and
Benefits

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

To approve the 2022-23 Local Council Tax Reduction
Scheme (LCTRS)

See report

Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme
(LCTRS) for 2022 2023

Council 24 Feb 2022

Seek decisions relating to Thetford Power Project.

See report

Thetford Power
Project

Executive Director Place & Delivery
and Monitoring Officer

Local Council
Tax Reduction
Scheme
(LCTRS) for
2022 - 2023

Date tbc

112

Cllr Paul
Claussen,
Deputy Leader &
Executive
Member for
Economic
Development and
Growth
Thetford Power
Project

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:
Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE.
Email democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

4

